miR-190 acts during pupation to influence adult sleep in Glu^{ACh} cells

A Dissertation

Presented to

The Faculty of the Graduate School of Arts and Sciences

Brandeis University

Interdepartmental Program in Neuroscience

Leslie C. Griffith, Advisor

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

by

Emmanuel José Rivera-Rodríguez

February 2022

This dissertation, directed and approved by Emmanuel J. Rivera-Rodríguez' Committee, has been accepted and approved by the Faculty of Brandeis University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of:

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Wendy Cadge, Dean

Graduate School of Arts and Sciences

Dissertation Committee:

Leslie C. Griffith, PhD, Dept. of Biology

Sebastian Kadener, PhD, Dept. of Biology

Michael Rosbash, PhD, Dept. of Biology

Dragana Rogulja, PhD, Dept. of Neurobiology, Harvard Medical School

Copyright by

Emmanuel José Rivera-Rodríguez

© 2022

Dedicatoria

A mi familia.

Gracias por el apoyo incondicional, esta investigación no sería posible sin ustedes. A mis abuelos, Pai Pepe y Mai María, gracias por siempre creer en mí. A mis padres, Mary y Yito, gracias por apoyar mis planes y brindarme las herramientas que me han traído hasta aquí, por estar conmigo y sentir su cariño aún en la distancia. A mis hermanos, Moi y Anibal, gracias por ser inspiración y ayudarme a nunca dudar de mis capacidades. Gracias a mis otros hermanos de vida, Roberto, Jean, José Ayala, Ricardo y Jay, porque son como mi conciencia y siempre logran hacerme reír cuando más lo necesito. Todos ustedes son esenciales en mi historia.

Acknowledgements

This work has been possible thanks to the many collaborators and friends I've made along the way. First, thanks to my advisor Dr. Leslie C. Griffith. Whenever I needed someone to talk about my scientific ideas, plans and questions (and life!), you had an open door for me to reach out. I would like to thank the whole Griffith lab for providing a space for me to grow and explore my scientific curiosity. My favorite aspect of science is getting to collaborate with peers, exchange ideas and make each other's work better by doing so, and in the Griffith lab we really believe in teamwork. Thanks specially to Trish Goodwin, Yunpeng Zhang, Nannan Chen, Mohamed Adel, Elena Kuklin, and Martha Reed, you all left your mark in this work. Among my collaborators, I need to highlight my dear friend Michael Hobin, you became one of my best friends and colleagues, and working with you was always a blast. Thanks to all the undergrads I got to mentor in some way or another, Zoe Bleicher, Katherine Dorfman, Phoenix Chen, Julia Birnbaum, I wish you all the best. Thanks to all the other mentors I've found along the way. Thanks to both the current and past members of my thesis committee, Dr. Rosbash, Dr. Kadener, Dr. Garrity, Dr. Katz, Dr. Rogulja; you all have made my work better. Thanks to all the friends from the Rosbash, Garrity, Kadener, Turrigiano, Jadhav, and Katz lab, you all made my time at Brandeis a fun time. Thanks particularly to Dr. Eve Marder for always caring about our scientific family in Puerto Rico, and always having words of wisdom for me. Thanks to my science family in PR. Dr. Agosto and Dr. Giray, you will always be my mentors and friends. Lastly, thanks to all the Boston friends for being a family far from home.

V

Abstract

miR-190 Acts During Pupation to Influence Adult Sleep in Glu^{ACh} Cells A Dissertation Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Arts and Sciences Brandeis University Waltham, Massachusetts

By Emmanuel José Rivera-Rodríguez

Sleep is a widely conserved behavior, known to influence many cognitive and physiological functions. Studies have implicated microRNAs in the regulation of gene expression changes that control sleep behavior. The Griffith lab screened a library of 143 microRNA sponges using the fruit fly Drosophila melanogaster, in order to find microRNAs involved in sleep regulation (Goodwin et al., 2018). This screen showed miR-190 to be involved in the regulation of sleep. Flies expressing the miR-190-sponge (miR-190-SP) in a pan-neuronal manner showed decreased and fragmented sleep, as well as changes in other sleep parameters. Spatial and temporal mapping of its locus of action demonstrates that *miR-190* is required during the pupal stage, in a population of neurons that transcribe both glutamatergic and cholinergic genes, to which we refer to as Glu^{ACh} cells. Thermogenetic activation of this population of cells by means of dTRPA1 results in a decrease and fragmentation of sleep, phenocopying miR-190 knockdown. At the molecular level, RNA sequencing of both pupal brains and adult heads showed that pan-neuronal expression of miR-190-SP induces an upregulation of multiple genes, among those several cholinergic genes, as well as *midline*, a T-box

vi

transcription factor previously shown to operate as a suppressor of glutamatergic fate. $Glu^{ACh} > mid$ overexpression phenocopied miR-190 knockdown with animals showing a decrease in total sleep and sleep fragmentation. Additionally, our RNAseq results show downregulation expression of dopaminergic genes upon sleep deprivation of miR-190-SP flies and altered neuronal activity in specific dopaminergic cells. Taken together, our results suggest that miR-190 acts during development in Glu^{ACh} cells to allow their glutamatergic differentiation, as well as regulating neuronal activity of the sleep/arousal neuronal circuit, ultimately establishing the *Drosophila* adult sleep behavior.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Sleep is a Conserved Behavior with Essential Functions	1
Sleep and Gene Expression	2
Drosophila as a Model for Sleep	2
Neurotransmitters and Sleep in Drosophila	3
micro-RNAs: Biogenesis, Mechanism of Action and Functions	7
Thesis Briefing	13
References	14

Chapter 2: *miR-190* Acts in the Pupal Nervous System to Regulate

Neurotransmitter Identity in Glu ^{ACh} Cells and Sleep Behavior	.23
miR-190 in Neurons Regulates Multiple Sleep Parameters	.23
miR-190 acts in Glu ^{ACh} Cells to Regulate Sleep	25
miR-190 Acts During Pupation to Affect Sleep	.30
miR-190 is Required for Downregulation of Cholinergic Genes	31
miR-190 Inhibition Alters Dopaminergic Tone	33
Experimental Procedures	38
References	43

Chapter 3: Discussion	46
The model	49

References	 	56

Supplementary I	Materials58
-----------------	-------------

Figures

Chapter 2: *miR-190* Acts in the Pupal Nervous System to Regulate

Neurotransmitter Identity in Glu ^{ACh} Cells and Sleep Behavior23
Figure 2.1. miR-190-SP in neurons disrupt normal sleep behavior24
Figure 2.2. <i>miR-190</i> acts in Glu ^{ACh} cells to regulate sleep
Figure 2.3. Pupal activation of Glu ^{ACh} cells decreases nighttime sleep and induces sleep fragmentation
Figure 2.4. Adult activation of Glu ^{ACh} cells induces sleep fragmentation
Figure 2.5. <i>miR-190</i> acts during pupation to affect sleep
Figure 2.6. <i>midline</i> over-expression in Glu ^{ACh} cells partially phenocopies <i>miR-19</i> knockdown32
Figure 2.7. <i>miR-190</i> acts in Glu ^{ACh} neurons to suppress VAChT translation
Figure 2.8. miR-190-SP flies are specifically sensitive to dopamine signaling
Figure 2.9. miR-190-SP expression has no effects on global levels of DA35
Figure 2.10. Pan-neuronal miR-190-SP expression leads to increase neuronal activity in TH+ projections onto the dFSB
Chapter 3: Discussion46
Figure 3.1. Core sleep homeostasis circuit50
Figure 3.2. exF12 cells are glutamatergic51
Figure 3.3. Glu ^{ACh} neurons are a sleep controlling subset of adult glutamatergic cells

Supplementary	/ Materials	
Cappionioniai		

Supplementary Figure 1. S30 Plots showing that <i>miR-190</i> acts in Glu ^{ACh} cells to	
regulate sleep	.59
Supplementary Figure 2. S30 Plots showing that <i>miR-190</i> acts in the pupal brain to	
regulate sleep	.60

Tables:

Chapter 2: *miR-190* Acts in the Pupal Nervous System to Regulate

Neurotransmitter Identi	y in Glu ^{ACh} Cells and Sleep Beh	avior23
--------------------------------	---	---------

Table 2.1. Upregulated cholinergic related genes upon miR-190-SPpan-neuronal expression in pupal or adult brains	.31
Table 2.2. Downregulated dopaminergic genes upon miR-190-SP pan-neuronal expression and sleep deprivation in adult brains	.34

Supplementary Materials:

Supplementary Table 1. Pan-neuronal expression of miR-190-SP leads to an	
upregulation in dopaminergic genes upon baseline sleep, and downregulation upon	
sleep deprivation	.60

Chapter 1

Introduction

Sleep is a Conserved Behavior with Essential Functions

Humans have been curious about sleep throughout history. Descriptions of sleep and concepts such as insomnia, snoring and narcolepsy can be found in human records dating to the time of ancient Egypt, in the sixteenth century (Reviewed in Asaad, 2015). Sleep is a highly evolutionarily conserved behavior, known to be present in most animal species studied (Reviewed in Campbell and Tobler, 1984). Episodes of sleep are defined by a series of criteria including: behavioral quiescence and characteristic posture, increased arousal threshold, rapid reversibility, circadian distribution, homeostatic regulation, changes in genetic expression, and changes in brain electrical activity (Campbell and Tobler, 1984; Flanigan, 1973; Gilestro et al., 2009; Joiner, 2016; Kaiser, 1988; Shaw et al., 2000; Tobler, 1983).

The fact that sleep must take place even when it puts the organism at risk in its environment, with possible dangers such as predators, suggests it plays a critical role. Even though an ultimate function for sleep remains to be elucidated, its relevance can be observed by looking at disruptions arising from sleep loss. For example, evidence from both mammals and invertebrates demonstrates negative effects of sleep deprivation on learning and memory (Melnattur et al., 2021; Seugnet et al., 2008; Walker and Stickgold, 2004). In humans, sleep deprivation has been linked to increased anxiety and depression, according to self-reported symptom studies (Babson et al., 2010). In the most severe scenario, chronic sleep deprivation can lead to death, as has

been shown in several organisms, including rats (Rechtschaffen et al., 2002), flies (Shaw et al., 2002), cockroaches (Stephenson et al., 2007), and humans (Montagna, 2002).

Sleep and Gene Expression

Various approaches including gene knockouts, point-mutations, and genomewide association studies have identified a plethora of genes involved in the regulation of sleep. Genes with sleep regulatory function can be classified into many different categories such as transcription factors, neuropeptides, kinases, among others. For example, in mice, deletion of the transcription factor *Bmal1* disrupts several aspects of sleep, with changes including increased total sleep, decreased sleep homeostatic response, and abnormal circadian distribution of sleep and wake episodes (Laposky et al., 2005). In fruit flies, the neuropeptide F (NPF) has been shown to be linked to sleep. Males flies over-expressing NPF show increased nighttime sleep and altered sleep homeostatic response upon sleep deprivation (He et al., 2013). Lastly, in mice, the Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II has been shown to be involved in regulating sleep, as knockout of the subunits *Camk2a* and *Camk2b*, results in a significant decrease in total sleep (Tatsuki et al., 2016).

Drosophila as a Model for Sleep

The study of sleep has benefited from the use of the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* as a model. Findings show that *Drosophila* have a sleep-like state (Hendricks et al., 2000; Shaw et al., 2000). This sleep-like state has been found to

share similarities with mammalian sleep including: a specific posture, extended periods of quiescence distributed in a circadian manner, increased arousal threshold upon stimulus, homeostatic regulation, and changes in brain electrophysiological activity (Hendricks et al., 2000; Shaw et al., 2000; van Alphen et al., 2013). *Drosophila* sleep can be assessed by means of locomotor activity tracking assays and tools such as the *Drosophila Activity Monitor System* (DAM). In this assay, individual flies are placed in a clear tube bisected by an infrared beam that is interrupted when the fly moves, which is counted as a bout of locomotor activity (Pfeiffenberger et al., 2010). A fly is considered to be asleep when showing 5 minutes of quiescence or more. This definition of sleep was determined by the observation that after five minutes of rest, animals present increased arousal threshold upon mechanical stimulation (Shaw et al., 2000). *Drosophila* sleep is characterized by a consolidated period of sleep during the night, and high levels of wake during the beginning and end of the daytime, with a "siesta" during the middle of the day (Hendricks et al., 2000).

Neurotransmitters and Sleep in Drosophila

Evidence demonstrates different effects of neurotransmitters on the regulation of sleep in *Drosophila*. According to current data, neurotransmitters can be generally classified in several different categories: sleep-promoting (serotonin and GABA), wake-promoting (dopamine, octopamine, histamine), and neurotransmitters involved in both (acetylcholine and glutamate) (Reviewed in Ly et al., 2018), although there are clearly exceptions (Liu et al., 2019). This literature review will focus specifically on the sleep

regulatory function of acetylcholine and glutamate, and the wake-promoting neurotransmitter dopamine.

In *Drosophila*, the neurotransmitter acetylcholine is known to be primarily excitatory, with expression in the protocerebrum, mushroom bodies, and central complex (Buchner et al., 1986; Salvaterra and Kitamoto, 2001; Yasuyama and Salvaterra, 1999). It has been shown that acetylcholine is responsible for providing excitatory inputs onto the wake-promoting large ventrolateral neurons (I-LNvs), demonstrated by whole-cell recordings (McCarthy et al., 2011). In these experiments it was observed that treatment with nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChR) agonists (acetylcholine and nicotine), induced depolarization and action potential firing of I-LNvs, which was reversed by application of nAChR antagonists (curare and α -BuTX) (McCarthy et al., 2011). Additionally, acetylcholine induces wakefulness by acting on a cluster of wake promoting mushroom body neurons by means of G-protein coupled signaling. VAChT-RNAi expression in MB surface/posterior and y neurons leads to an increase in sleep, suggesting a wake-promoting effect of acetylcholine in those neurons (Yi et al., 2013). On the other hand VAChT-RNAi expression in MB α/β leads to a decrease in sleep, suggesting a sleep-promoting role of acetylcholine in those neurons (Yi et al., 2013).

Evidence has also demonstrated a role of the neurotransmitter glutamate in the regulation of sleep in *Drosophila*, having been shown to induce both wake and sleep in a loci-specific manner (Reviewed in Ly et al., 2018). Adult-specific activation of *Drosophila* CNS glutamatergic cells by means of the voltage-gated sodium channel NaChBac, leads to an increase in wake during both daytime and nighttime, with longer wake episodes (Zimmerman et al., 2017). Additionally, inhibition of CNS glutamatergic

cells by means of the potassium channel shaker (EKO), leads to an increase in nighttime sleep (Zimmerman et al., 2017). On the other hand, several studies have investigated the sleep-promoting effects of glutamatergic signaling. Evidence demonstrates that pan-neuronal knockdown of the NMDA type glutamate receptor gene *Nmdar1*, leads to a significant decrease in total sleep (Tomita et al., 2015). In support of these results, treatment with the NMDAR antagonist MK-801, also leads to a decrease in sleep (Tomita et al., 2015). Other results show that increased expression the vesicular glutamate transporter vglut, leads to an increase in both daytime and nighttime sleep (Robinson et al., 2016). Additionally, these effects were found to be dependent on both NMDAR and AMPAR signaling, as expression of RNAi against the NMDAR subunits NR1 and NR2, as well as the AMPA receptor GluRI, lead to a rescue of the observed sleep behavior upon increased vglut expression (Robinson et al., 2016). Glutamatergic signaling has also been shown to be involved in the regulation of homeostatic compensatory sleep upon sleep deprivation (Liu et al., 2016). In these experiments, ellipsoid body R2 cell-specific mRNA isolation followed by qPCR, demonstrated an increase of the NMDAR subunit *dNR1*. Additionally, immunostaining of ellipsoid body R2 cells after sleep deprivation showed an increase in dNR2 NMDAR subunit. Lastly, knockdown of either dNR1 and dNR2 by mean of RNAi, led to a suppression of sleep rebound after sleep deprivation (Liu et al., 2012). Taken together these results demonstrate loci-specific role of glutamatergic signaling, with effects on both wake and sleep.

Studies demonstrate the presence of neurotransmitters shown to be important for wake promotion in *Drosophila*, among those Dopamine (Reviewed in Ly et al., 2018). In

fruit flies, projections from clusters of dopaminergic neurons have been shown to innervate the central complex and mushroom bodies, important regions for sleep regulation (Donlea et al., 2011; Friggi-Grelin et al., 2003; Joiner et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2016; Mao and Davis, 2009; Pitman et al., 2006). Manipulation of dopaminergic levels by genetic mutations or pharmacology supports the role of dopaminergic signaling on sleep regulation. Flies expressing the mutant allele *fumin*, which affects the dopamine transporter *dDAT* gene and disrupts dopamine clearance (Makos et al., 2009), show deficits in sleep with increased arousal (Kume, 2005).

The role of dopamine in *Drosophila* sleep has also been supported by pharmacological studies. Treatment with the dopamine synthesis inhibitor 3IY leads to an increase in sleep during daytime (Andretic et al., 2005). On the other hand, increasing dopaminergic signaling by means of methamphetamine treatment, leads to an increase of arousal (*Andretic et al., 2005*). Lastly, earlier evidence demonstrates an arousal effect of caffeine in *Drosophila* (Hendricks *et al.,* 2000; Shaw *et al.,* 2000) to be mediated by the dopamine receptor dDA1 in mushroom bodies (Andretic et al., 2008). In this study, the resistance to caffeine, induced by the mutant *dumb1* (dDA1 deficient), is rescued by transgenic expression of WT dDA1 (Andretic et al., 2008).

Several cell clusters have been identified to be important in the observed dopamine-dependent regulation of sleep in *Drosophila*. For example, PPL1 and PPM3 are clusters of dopaminergic neurons that innervate dFSB, and their activation by means of dTRPA1 leads to a significant decrease in nighttime sleep (Liu et al., 2012b). Later evidence confirmed the signaling between dopaminergic cells and the dFSB, by means of optogenetic activation of TH-cells combined with electrophysiological

recording from dFSB. In these experiments, optogenetic activation of TH-GAL4⁺ cells by means of *csChrimson*, lead to a decrease in dFSB firing, concomitant with an increase wake-behavior (Pimentel et al., 2016).

micro-RNAs: Biogenesis, Mechanism of Action and Functions

microRNAs are endogenous short transcripts ("23 nucleotides) of non-coding RNA, with post-transcriptional regulatory functions on gene expression of their targets (Ambros, 2004; Bartel, 2009; Huntzinger and Izaurralde, 2011). Pri-microRNAs are hairpin-like microRNA precursors, transcribed by the RNA-Polymerase II. A primicroRNA is cleaved by the nuclear RNase drosha, producing a "70 nucleotide premicroRNA, which is then exported into the cytoplasm (Lee et al., 2003). In the cytoplasm the pre-microRNA's stem loop is cleaved by the enzyme Dicer, leaving a short double-stranded microRNA precursor (Hutvágner et al., 2001). Then either a 5' or 3' microRNA "guide" strand is loaded into the Ago protein of the RNA induced silencing complex (RISC), while the remaining "passenger" strand is usually degraded (Bhayani et al., 2012; Hutvágner *et al.*, 2001; Lee *et al.*, 2003; Meijer et al., 2014). Once loaded into the RISC complex a microRNA is ready to effect its regulatory function on its target mRNA products.

A microRNA will target and bind specific mRNAs by means of Watson-Crick base complementarity (Reviewed in Huntzinger and Izaurralde, 2011). The microRNA contains a "seed" sequence within its 5'end, containing 2-7 nucleotides. The microRNA seed sequence recognizes a partially complementary binding on the target mRNA, usually located in the 3'-UTR region of the mRNA (Reviewed in Bartel, 2009; Huntzinger

and Izaurralde, 2011). Once bound to its target mRNA, a microRNA will inhibit protein expression by either translational inhibition or mRNA destabilization and degradation (Lee et al., 1993; Lim et al., 2005; Wightman et al., 1993). Evidence has shown that a microRNA can affect mRNA translation either during initiation (Humphreys et al., 2005; Pillai et al., 2005), or during post-initiation stages of translation (Olsen and Ambros, 1999; Seggerson et al., 2002). Alternatively, microRNAs have also been shown to inhibit protein expression through mRNA degradation either by endonucleolytic cleavage of the mRNA target (Yekta et al., 2004) or by degrading their targets by means of the 5'-to-3' mRNA decay pathway (Behm-Ansmant, 2006; Giraldez et al., 2006; Rehwinkel, 2005). Evidence demonstrates that mRNA target degradation plays a major role in the translational repression in animals, accounting for 75-84% of the microRNAdependent reduction of protein production (Guo et al., 2010; Hendrickson et al., 2009).

Previous evidence shows microRNAs to be involved in a plethora of biological processes including development, cancer, and sleep, among others (Reviewed in Carthew et al., 2017; Macfarlane and R. Murphy, 2010; O'Connell et al., 2010; Wienholds and Plasterk, 2005). For example, in *C. elegans*, the gene *lin-14* is involved in the developmental cell fate determination and loss-of-function mutations in *lin-14* leads to abnormal early expression of cell fates, that should occur later in development (Olsen and Ambros, 1999). Studies show that the levels of LIN-14 protein are high during early L1 developmental stage and then decrease between later L1 and L2 stages, allowing for the proper cell fate determination of LIN-14 is controlled by the microRNA *lin-4*, which is expressed at the end of the L1 developmental stage, giving rise to the

proper cell fate determination (Feinbaum and Ambros, 1999). microRNAs have also been shown to be involved in the regulation of development in other organisms, such as in the case of the first microRNA identified in fruit flies, bantam. In flies, bantam is expressed in imaginal disks, a larval tissue that gives rise to adult body parts such as antennas, wings, legs, and eyes. Bantam's expression in imaginal disks allows for proper body part development by promoting cell-proliferation and cell apoptosis inhibition by downregulation of the proapoptotic gene hid (Brennecke et al., 2003; Hipfner et al., 2002). In the context of the nervous system, microRNAs have been shown to be linked to processes for neuronal development, with specific functions such as neuronal maturation, connectivity and plasticity (Reviewed in McNeill and David, 2012). For example, the murine brain-enriched microRNA miR-137 has been shown to play a role in early neuronal differentiation through the regulation of the gene cdk6 and the neuronal marker tuj1 (Silber et al., 2008). Other functions of miR-137 include the regulation of neuronal maturation, through the regulation the gene *mib1* (Smrt et al., 2010). Additionally, in Drosophila melanogaster, loss of the microRNAs let-7, miR-100, and miR-125, have been shown to prevent the development and maturation of neuromuscular junctions (NMJs), via regulation of the transcription factor abrupt (Caygill and Johnston, 2008; Sokol et al., 2008).

Studies have shown microRNAs to be involved in the progression of diseases, such as cancer, in humans (Calin et al., 2002; Calin et al., 2004; Iorio and Croce, 2012). Early evidence linking microRNAs with cancer development comes from studies aiming to identify tumor suppressor genes at chromosome 13q14, which is often found deleted in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (Calin et al., 2002). It was found in this study that

instead of containing a protein-coding tumor suppressor gene, the 13q14 chromosomal region contains the two microRNA genes *miR-15a* and *miR-16-1*. The involvement of these 2 microRNAs in chronic lymphocytic leukemia was also confirmed by the fact that in approximately 69% of cases studied, *miR-15a* and *miR-16-1* appeared to be knocked out or knocked down (Calin et al., 2002). Further studies of different human cancer cases demonstrated increased expression of microRNAs linked to the negative regulation of tumor suppressor genes (Calin et al., 2004). In such a scenario, increased expression of the aforementioned microRNAs leads to a downregulation of tumor suppressor genes suppression are often found in chromosomal loci prone to deletion or mutations (Reviewed in lorio and Croce, 2012). The involvement of microRNAs in the progression of cancer has made these post-transcriptional regulators key biomarkers in the classification, diagnosis, prognosis and treatment of the condition in humans (Reviewed in lorio and Croce, 2012; Jansson and Lund, 2012).

MicroRNAs function has also been linked to the regulation of sleep in different organisms. For example, early evidence from microarray experiments demonstrated that sleep deprivation induces locus-specific changes in microRNA expression in the rat brain (Davis et al., 2007). Later studies also demonstrated that the activity of microRNAs can alter sleep, measured as EEG delta-wave activity in rats (Davis et al., 2012). In *Drosophila*, microRNAs have been shown to be involved in the regulation of sleep behaviors. For example, the microRNA *miR-276a* has been shown to regulate sleep and circadian rhythmicity by targeting the *npfr, tim,* and *DopR1* genes (Chen and Rosbash, 2016; Zhang et al., 2021a; Zhang et al., 2021b). Results show that *miR-276a*

knockout and overexpression leads to either increased or decreased sleep, respectively (Zhang et al., 2021a; Zhang et al., 2021b). Additionally, it has been shown that misregulation of *miR-276a* by means of genetic knockout or overexpression leads to disruptions in molecular and behavioral circadian rhythmicity (Chen and Rosbash, 2016). Also, evidence demonstrates that in *Drosophila*, the microRNA *miR-92a* regulates sleep behavior by means of suppression of neuronal excitability and targeting of *sirt2* expression, with locus-specific effects of *miR92a* misregulation on total sleep (Chen and Rosbash, 2017).

The study of microRNA function has benefited from the use the microRNA inhibitors, microRNA-sponges (Loya et al., 2009). microRNA-sponges are transgenic RNA sequences containing repetitive sequences complementary to specific microRNAs (Loya et al., 2009). When expressed, a microRNA-sponge binds to its target microRNA, hence inhibiting the microRNA from interacting with its target mRNA, and ultimately leading to a misregulation of the targets (Loya et al., 2009). The Van Vactor laboratory engineered a library of 143 microRNA-sponges targeting highly expressed and evolutionarily conserved microRNAs (Fulga et al., 2015). This library has been further utilized for addressing the regulatory function of microRNAs in several biological processes and functions such as learning and memory (Busto et al., 2015), wing development and morphology (Fulga et al., 2015), glia-dependent circadian regulation (You et al., 2018), and fly locomotor behaviors (Donelson et al., 2020). Utilizing this microRNA-sponge library, the Griffith lab has worked to better understand the regulatory functions of microRNAs on sleep. With this purpose Goodwin et al. (2018) screened the library of 143 microRNA sponges, aiming to find microRNAs involved in sleep. Several

microRNAs were found to be linked to Drosophila sleep, with 8 microRNAs identified as wake-promoting, and 17 others identified as sleep-promoting (Goodwin et al., 2018). Results from this study demonstrated a role of the microRNA let-7 on sleep promotion, with knockdown by means of let-7-sponge or CRISPR knockout, leading to developmental and adult specific effects on sleep. Additionally let-7 sleep-promoting effects were mapped to mushroom body neurons by means of GAL4/UAS locus-specific let-7-sponge expression (Goodwin et al., 2018). This screen also suggested a sleeppromoting role of the microRNA bantam (Goodwin et al., 2018). Our recent work further characterized *bantam* sleep regulatory function, with results showing that *bantam* acts to promote early nighttime sleep in a cluster of bilateral Mushroom Body Output Neurons (MBONs) (Hobin et al., 2021). Additionally, our results suggested a role of kelch and CCHamide-2 receptor as mediators of bantam sleep regulatory function (Hobin et al., 2021). Our screen also showed a sleep-promoting function of the microRNA miR-190 (Goodwin et al., 2018). Either global or pan-neuronal knockdown of miR-190 by means of a miR-190-sponge, leads to a decrease in total sleep (Goodwin et al., 2018).

The microRNA *miR-190* has been studied in the context of different types of human diseases, and particularly cancer (Reviewed in Yu and Cao, 2019). *MiR-190* has been shown to be involved in different stages of cancer development, from proliferation to metastasis and drug resistance, throughout the regulation of a myriad of mRNA targets (Reviewed in Yu and Cao, 2019). In *Drosophila*, *miR-190* has been shown be important for Hypoxia Inducible Factors (HIF)-dependent responses to hypoxia, through the regulation of the gene *fatiga* (De Lella Ezcurra et al., 2016). Aside from our results

demonstrating a sleep-promoting role of the microRNA *miR-190* in *Drosophila*, hitherto no other research has further studied the role of this microRNA on the regulation of sleep behaviors.

Thesis Briefing

The aim of the project described in this thesis is to better understand the sleeppromoting role of the microRNA *miR-190* in *Drosophila melanogaster*. This project specifically **(1)** maps its locus of action in the fly brain **(2)** identifies *miR-190's* window of time for sleep regulation, and **(3)** seeks to understand *miR-190's* mechanism of action for sleep regulation through mRNA target identification and assessment of its effect on loci-specific neuronal activity.

The role of microRNAs is known to be evolutionarily conserved, and microRNAs have been linked to the regulation of sleep in humans, with studies showing altered microRNA expression profiles concomitant with sleep pathologies (Holm et al., 2014). The current work shines light on the genetic regulation of sleep and may help elucidate potential therapeutic targets for the understanding and treatment of sleep disorders and its comorbidities in humans.

References

Ambros, V. (2004). The functions of animal microRNAs. Nature *431*, 350-355. 10.1038/nature02871.

Ambros, V., and Horvitz, H.R. (1987). The lin-14 locus of Caenorhabditis elegans controls the time of expression of specific postembryonic developmental events. Genes & Development *1*, 398-414. 10.1101/gad.1.4.398.

Andretic, R., Kim, Y.C., Jones, F.S., Han, K.A., and Greenspan, R.J. (2008). Drosophila D1 dopamine receptor mediates caffeine-induced arousal. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *105*, 20392-20397. 10.1073/pnas.0806776105.

Andretic, R., van Swinderen, B., and Greenspan, R.J. (2005). Dopaminergic modulation of arousal in Drosophila. Curr Biol *15*, 1165-1175. 10.1016/j.cub.2005.05.025.

Asaad, T. (2015). Sleep in Ancient Egypt. In Sleep Medicine, pp. 13-19. 10.1007/978-1-4939-2089-1_2.

Babson, K.A., Trainor, C.D., Feldner, M.T., and Blumenthal, H. (2010). A test of the effects of acute sleep deprivation on general and specific self-reported anxiety and depressive symptoms: An experimental extension. Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry *41*, 297-303. 10.1016/j.jbtep.2010.02.008.

Bartel, D.P. (2009). MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. Cell *136*, 215-233. 10.1016/j.cell.2009.01.002.

Behm-Ansmant, I. (2006). mRNA degradation by miRNAs and GW182 requires both CCR4:NOT deadenylase and DCP1:DCP2 decapping complexes. Genes & Development *20*, 1885-1898. 10.1101/gad.1424106.

Bhayani, M.K., Calin, G.A., and Lai, S.Y. (2012). Functional relevance of miRNA* sequences in human disease. Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis 731, 14-19. 10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2011.10.014.

Brennecke, J., Hipfner, D.R., Stark, A., Russell, R.B., and Cohen, S.M. (2003). bantam Encodes a Developmentally Regulated microRNA that Controls Cell Proliferation and Regulates the Proapoptotic Gene hid in Drosophila. Cell *113*, 25-36. 10.1016/s0092-8674(03)00231-9.

Buchner, E., Buchner, S., Crawford, G., Mason, W.T., Savaterra, P.M., and Sattelle, D.B. (1986). Choline acetyltransferase-like immunoreactivity in the brain of Drosophila melanogaster. Cell and Tissue Research, 57-62.

Busto, G.U., Guven-Ozkan, T., Fulga, T.A., Van Vactor, D., and Davis, R.L. (2015). microRNAs That Promote or Inhibit Memory Formation in Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics *200*, 569-580. 10.1534/genetics.114.169623.

Calin, G.A., Dumitru, C.D., Shimizu, M., Bichi, R., Zupo, S., Noch, E., Aldler, H., Rattan, S., Keating, M., Rai, K., et al. (2002). Nonlinear partial differential equations and applications: Frequent deletions and down-regulation of micro- RNA genes miR15 and miR16 at 13q14 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *99*, 15524-15529. 10.1073/pnas.242606799.

Calin, G.A., Sevignani, C., Dumitru, C.D., Hyslop, T., Noch, E., Yendamuri, S., Shimizu, M., Rattan, S., Bullrich, F., Negrini, M., and Croce, C.M. (2004). Human microRNA genes are frequently located at fragile sites and genomic regions involved in cancers. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *101*, 2999-3004. 10.1073/pnas.0307323101.

Campbell, S.S., and Tobler, I. (1984). Animal sleep: A review of sleep duration across phylogeny. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews *8*, 269-300. 10.1016/0149-7634(84)90054-x.

Carthew, R.W., Agbu, P., and Giri, R. (2017). MicroRNA function in Drosophila melanogaster. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology *65*, 29-37. 10.1016/j.semcdb.2016.03.015.

Caygill, E.E., and Johnston, L.A. (2008). Temporal Regulation of Metamorphic Processes in Drosophila by the let-7 and miR-125 Heterochronic MicroRNAs. Current Biology *18*, 943-950. 10.1016/j.cub.2008.06.020.

Chen, X., and Rosbash, M. (2016). mir-276a strengthens Drosophila circadian rhythms by regulating timeless expression. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *113*, E2965-E2972. 10.1073/pnas.1605837113.

Chen, X., and Rosbash, M. (2017). MicroRNA-92a is a circadian modulator of neuronal excitability in Drosophila. Nature Communications *8*, 14707. 10.1038/ncomms14707.

Davis, C.J., Bohnet, S.G., Meyerson, J.M., and Krueger, J.M. (2007). Sleep loss changes microRNA levels in the brain: A possible mechanism for state-dependent translational regulation. Neuroscience Letters *422*, 68-73. 10.1016/j.neulet.2007.06.005.

Davis, C.J., Clinton, J.M., and Krueger, J.M. (2012). MicroRNA 138, let-7b, and 125a inhibitors differentially alter sleep and EEG delta-wave activity in rats. Journal of Applied Physiology *113*, 1756-1762. 10.1152/japplphysiol.00940.2012.

De Lella Ezcurra, A.L., Bertolin, A.P., Kim, K., Katz, M.J., Gándara, L., Misra, T., Luschnig, S., Perrimon, N., Melani, M., and Wappner, P. (2016). miR-190 Enhances HIF-Dependent Responses to Hypoxia in Drosophila by Inhibiting the Prolyl-4hydroxylase Fatiga. PLOS Genetics *12*, e1006073. 10.1371/journal.pgen.1006073.

Donelson, N.C., Dixit, R., Pichardo-Casas, I., Chiu, E.Y., Ohman, R.T., Slawson, J.B., Klein, M., Fulga, T.A., Van Vactor, D., and Griffith, L.C. (2020). MicroRNAs Regulate Multiple Aspects of Locomotor Behavior in Drosophila. G3 Genes|Genomes|Genetics *10*, 43-55. 10.1534/g3.119.400793.

Donlea, J.M., Thimgan, M.S., Suzuki, Y., Gottschalk, L., and Shaw, P.J. (2011). Inducing Sleep by Remote Control Facilitates Memory Consolidation in Drosophila. Science *332*, 1571-1576. 10.1126/science.1202249.

Feinbaum, R., and Ambros, V. (1999). The Timing oflin-4RNA Accumulation Controls the Timing of Postembryonic Developmental Events inCaenorhabditis elegans. Developmental Biology *210*, 87-95. 10.1006/dbio.1999.9272.

Flanigan, W.F. (1973). Sleep and Wakefulness in Iguanid Lizards, Ctenosaura pectinata and Iguana iguana. Brain, Behavior and Evolution, 401-416. 10.1159/000124366.

Friggi-Grelin, F., Coulom, H.L.N., Meller, M., Gomez, D., Hirsh, J., and Birman, S. (2003). Targeted gene expression inDrosophila dopaminergic cells using regulatory sequences from tyrosine hydroxylase. Journal of Neurobiology *54*, 618-627. 10.1002/neu.10185.

Fulga, T.A., McNeill, E.M., Binari, R., Yelick, J., Blanche, A., Booker, M., Steinkraus, B.R., Schnall-Levin, M., Zhao, Y., DeLuca, T., et al. (2015). A transgenic resource for conditional competitive inhibition of conserved Drosophila microRNAs. Nat Commun *6*, 7279. 10.1038/ncomms8279.

Gilestro, G.F., Tononi, G., and Cirelli, C. (2009). Widespread changes in synaptic markers as a function of sleep and wakefulness in Drosophila. Science *324*, 109-112. 10.1126/science.1166673.

Giraldez, A.J., Mishima, Y., Rihel, J., Grocock, R.J., Dongen, S.V., Inoue, K., Enright, A.J., Schier, A.F., and (2006). Zebrafish MiR-430 Promotes Deadenylation and Clearance of Maternal mRNAs. Science *312*, 75-79. 10.1126/science.1122689.

Goodwin, P.R., Meng, A., Moore, J., Hobin, M., Fulga, T.A., Van Vactor, D., and Griffith, L.C. (2018). MicroRNAs Regulate Sleep and Sleep Homeostasis in Drosophila. Cell Rep *23*, 3776-3786. 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.05.078.

Guo, H., Ingolia, N.T., Weissman, J.S., and Bartel, D.P. (2010). Mammalian microRNAs predominantly act to decrease target mRNA levels. Nature *466*, 835-840. 10.1038/nature09267.

He, C., Yang, Y., Zhang, M., Price, J.L., and Zhao, Z. (2013). Regulation of Sleep by Neuropeptide Y-Like System in Drosophila melanogaster. PLoS ONE *8*, e74237. 10.1371/journal.pone.0074237.

Hendricks, J.C., Finn, S.M., Panckeri, K.A., Chavkin, J., Williams, J.A., Sehgal, A., and Pack, A.I. (2000). Rest in Drosophila Is a Sleep-like State. Neuron *25*, 129-138. 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80877-6.

Hendrickson, D.G., Hogan, D.J., McCullough, H.L., Myers, J.W., Herschlag, D., Ferrell, J.E., and Brown, P.O. (2009). Concordant Regulation of Translation and mRNA

Abundance for Hundreds of Targets of a Human microRNA. PLoS Biology 7, e1000238. 10.1371/journal.pbio.1000238.

Hipfner, D.R., Weigmann, K., and Cohen, S.M. (2002). The bantam Gene Regulates Drosophila Growth. Genetics *161*, 1527-1537. 10.1093/genetics/161.4.1527.

Hobin, M., Dorfman, K., Adel, M., Rivera-Rodriguez, E.J., and Griffith, L.C. (2021). Bantam regulates the adult sleep circuit in Drosophila. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory.

Holm, A., Bang-Berthelsen, C.H., Knudsen, S., Kornum, B.R., Modvig, S., Jennum, P., and Gammeltoft, S. (2014). miRNA Profiles in Plasma from Patients with Sleep Disorders Reveal Dysregulation of miRNAs in Narcolepsy and Other Central Hypersomnias. Sleep *37*, 1525-1533. 10.5665/sleep.4004.

Humphreys, D.T., Westman, B.J., Martin, D.I.K., and Preiss, T. (2005). MicroRNAs control translation initiation by inhibiting eukaryotic initiation factor 4E/cap and poly(A) tail function. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *102*, 16961-16966. 10.1073/pnas.0506482102.

Huntzinger, E., and Izaurralde, E. (2011). Gene silencing by microRNAs: contributions of translational repression and mRNA decay. Nature Reviews Genetics *12*, 99-110. 10.1038/nrg2936.

Hutvágner, G., McLachlan, J., Pasquinelli, A.E., Bálint, É., Tuschl, T., and Zamore, P.D. (2001). A Cellular Function for the RNA-Interferance Enzyme Dicer in the Maturation of the let-7 Small Temporal RNA. Science 293, 834-838. 10.1126/science.1062961.

lorio, M.V., and Croce, C.M. (2012). MicroRNA dysregulation in cancer: diagnostics, monitoring and therapeutics. A comprehensive review. EMBO Molecular Medicine *4*, 143-159. 10.1002/emmm.201100209.

Jansson, M.D., and Lund, A.H. (2012). MicroRNA and cancer. Molecular Oncology 6, 590-610. 10.1016/j.molonc.2012.09.006.

Joiner, W.J. (2016). Unraveling the Evolutionary Determinants of Sleep. Current Biology *26*, R1073-R1087. 10.1016/j.cub.2016.08.068.

Joiner, W.J., Crocker, A., White, B.H., and Sehgal, A. (2006). Sleep in Drosophila is regulated by adult mushroom bodies. Nature *441*, 757-760. 10.1038/nature04811.

Kaiser, W. (1988). Busy bees need rest, too*. Journal of Comparative Physiology A, 565-584.

Kume, K. (2005). Dopamine Is a Regulator of Arousal in the Fruit Fly. Journal of Neuroscience *25*, 7377-7384. 10.1523/jneurosci.2048-05.2005.

Laposky, A., Easton, A., Dugovic, C., Walisser, J., Bradfield, C., and Turek, F. (2005). Deletion of the Mammalian Circadian Clock Gene BMAL1/Mop3 Alters Baseline Sleep

Architecture and the Response to Sleep Deprivation. Sleep *28*, 395-410. 10.1093/sleep/28.4.395.

Lee, R.C., Feinbaum, R.L., and Ambros, V. (1993). The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. Cell *75*, 843-854. 10.1016/0092-8674(93)90529-y.

Lee, Y., Ahn, C., Han, J., Choi, H., Kim, J., Yim, J., Lee, J., Provost, P., Rådmark, O., Kim, S., and Kim, V.N. (2003). The nuclear RNase III Drosha initiates microRNA processing. Nature *425*, 415-419. 10.1038/nature01957.

Lim, L.P., Lau, N.C., Garrett-Engele, P., Grimson, A., Schelter, J.M., Castle, J., Bartel, D.P., Linsley, P.S., and Johnson, J.M. (2005). Microarray analysis shows that some microRNAs downregulate large numbers of target mRNAs. Nature *433*, 769-773. 10.1038/nature03315.

Liu, Q., Liu, S., Kodama, L., Driscoll, M.R., and Wu, M.N. (2012). Two dopaminergic neurons signal to the dorsal fan-shaped body to promote wakefulness in Drosophila. Curr Biol *22*, 2114-2123. 10.1016/j.cub.2012.09.008.

Liu, S., Liu, Q., Tabuchi, M., and Wu, M.N. (2016). Sleep Drive Is Encoded by Neural Plastic Changes in a Dedicated Circuit. Cell *165*, 1347-1360. 10.1016/j.cell.2016.04.013.

Loya, C.M., Lu, C.S., Van Vactor, D., and Fulga, T.A. (2009). Transgenic microRNA inhibition with spatiotemporal specificity in intact organisms. Nature Methods *6*, 897-903. 10.1038/nmeth.1402.

Ly, S., Pack, A.I., and Naidoo, N. (2018). The neurobiological basis of sleep: Insights from Drosophila. Neurosci Biobehav Rev *87*, 67-86. 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.01.015.

Macfarlane, L.-A., and R. Murphy, P. (2010). MicroRNA: Biogenesis, Function and Role in Cancer. Current Genomics *11*, 537-561. 10.2174/138920210793175895.

Makos, M.A., Kim, Y.-C., Han, K.-A., Heien, M.L., and Ewing, A.G. (2009). In Vivo Electrochemical Measurements of Exogenously Applied Dopamine in Drosophila melanogaster. Analytical Chemistry *81*, 1848-1854. 10.1021/ac802297b.

Mao, Z., and Davis, R.L. (2009). Eight different types of dopaminergic neurons innervate the Drosophila mushroom body neuropil: anatomical and physiological heterogeneity. Front Neural Circuits *3*, 5. 10.3389/neuro.04.005.2009.

McCarthy, E.V., Wu, Y., Decarvalho, T., Brandt, C., Cao, G., and Nitabach, M.N. (2011). Synchronized Bilateral Synaptic Inputs to Drosophila melanogaster Neuropeptidergic Rest/Arousal Neurons. Journal of Neuroscience *31*, 8181-8193. 10.1523/jneurosci.2017-10.2011. McNeill, E., and David (2012). MicroRNAs Shape the Neuronal Landscape. Neuron 75, 363-379. 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.07.005.

Meijer, H.A., Smith, E.M., and Bushell, M. (2014). Regulation of miRNA strand selection: follow the leader? Biochemical Society Transactions *4*2, 1135-1140. 10.1042/bst20140142.

Melnattur, K., Kirszenblat, L., Morgan, E., Militchin, V., Sakran, B., English, D., Patel, R., Chan, D., van Swinderen, B., and Shaw, P.J. (2021). A conserved role for sleep in supporting Spatial Learning in Drosophila. Sleep *44*. 10.1093/sleep/zsaa197.

Montagna, P. (2002). Agrypnia Excitata: a generalized overactivity syndrome and a useful concept in the neurophysiopathology of sleep. Clinical Neurophysiology *113*, 552-560. 10.1016/s1388-2457(02)00022-6.

O'Connell, R.M., Rao, D.S., Chaudhuri, A.A., and Baltimore, D. (2010). Physiological and pathological roles for microRNAs in the immune system. Nature Reviews Immunology *10*, 111-122. 10.1038/nri2708.

Olsen, P.H., and Ambros, V. (1999). The lin-4 Regulatory RNA Controls Developmental Timing in Caenorhabditis elegans by Blocking LIN-14 Protein Synthesis after the Initiation of Translation. Developmental Biology *216*, 671-680. 10.1006/dbio.1999.9523.

Pfeiffenberger, C., Lear, B.C., Keegan, K.P., and Allada, R. (2010). Locomotor activity level monitoring using the Drosophila Activity Monitoring (DAM) System. Cold Spring Harb Protoc *2010*, pdb prot5518. 10.1101/pdb.prot5518.

Pillai, R.S., Bhattacharyya, S.N., Artus, C.G., Zoller, T., Cougot, N., Bayuk, E., Bertrand, E., and Filipowicz, W. (2005). Inhibition of Translational Initiation by Let-7 MicroRNA in Human Cells. Science *309*, 1573-1576. 10.1126/science.1115079.

Pimentel, D., Donlea, J.M., Talbot, C.B., Song, S.M., Thurston, A.J.F., and Miesenböck, G. (2016). Operation of a homeostatic sleep switch. Nature *536*, 333-337. 10.1038/nature19055.

Pitman, J.L., McGill, J.J., Keegan, K.P., and Allada, R. (2006). A dynamic role for the mushroom bodies in promoting sleep in Drosophila. Nature *441*, 753-756. 10.1038/nature04739.

Rechtschaffen, A., Bergmann, B.M., Everson, C.A., Kushida, C.A., and Gilliland, M.A. (2002). Sleep deprivation in the rat: X. Integration and discussion of the findings. 1989. Sleep *25*, 68-87.

Rehwinkel, J. (2005). A crucial role for GW182 and the DCP1:DCP2 decapping complex in miRNA-mediated gene silencing. RNA *11*, 1640-1647. 10.1261/rna.2191905.

Robinson, J.E., Paluch, J., Dickman, D.K., and Joiner, W.J. (2016). ADAR-mediated RNA editing suppresses sleep by acting as a brake on glutamatergic synaptic plasticity. Nature Communications *7*, 10512. 10.1038/ncomms10512.

Salvaterra, P.M., and Kitamoto, T. (2001). Drosophila cholinergic neurons and processes visualized with Gal4/UAS–GFP. Gene Expression Patterns *1*, 73-82. 10.1016/s1567-133x(01)00011-4.

Seggerson, K., Tang, L., and Moss, E.G. (2002). Two genetic circuits repress the Caenorhabditis elegans heterochronic gene lin-28 after translation initiation. Dev Biol *243*, 215-225. 10.1006/dbio.2001.0563.

Seugnet, L., Suzuki, Y., Vine, L., Gottschalk, L., and Shaw, P.J. (2008). D1 receptor activation in the mushroom bodies rescues sleep-loss-induced learning impairments in Drosophila. Curr Biol *18*, 1110-1117. 10.1016/j.cub.2008.07.028.

Shaw, P.J., Cirelli, C., Greenspan, R.J., and Tononi, G. (2000). Correlates of sleep and waking in Drosophila melanogaster. Science *287*, 1834-1837. 10.1126/science.287.5459.1834.

Shaw, P.J., Tononi, G., Greenspan, R.J., and Robinson, D.F. (2002). Stress response genes protect against lethal effects of sleep deprivation in Drosophila. Nature *417*, 287-291. 10.1038/417287a.

Silber, J., Lim, D.A., Petritsch, C., Persson, A.I., Maunakea, A.K., Yu, M., Vandenberg, S.R., Ginzinger, D.G., James, C.D., Costello, J.F., et al. (2008). miR-124 and miR-137 inhibit proliferation of glioblastoma multiforme cells and induce differentiation of brain tumor stem cells. BMC Medicine *6*, 14. 10.1186/1741-7015-6-14.

Smrt, R.D., Szulwach, K.E., Pfeiffer, R.L., Li, X., Guo, W., Pathania, M., Teng, Z.-Q., Luo, Y., Peng, J., Bordey, A., et al. (2010). MicroRNA miR-137 Regulates Neuronal Maturation by Targeting Ubiquitin Ligase Mind Bomb-1. STEM CELLS *28*, 1060-1070. 10.1002/stem.431.

Sokol, N.S., Xu, P., Jan, Y.N., and Ambros, V. (2008). Drosophila let-7 microRNA is required for remodeling of the neuromusculature during metamorphosis. Genes & Development *22*, 1591-1596. 10.1101/gad.1671708.

Stephenson, R., Chu, K.M., and Lee, J. (2007). Prolonged deprivation of sleep-like rest raises metabolic rate in the Pacific beetle cockroach, Diploptera punctata (Eschscholtz). Journal of Experimental Biology *210*, 2540-2547. 10.1242/jeb.005322.

Tatsuki, F., Genshiro, Shi, S., Etsuo, Yukinaga, H., Perrin, D., Sumiyama, K., Ukai-Tadenuma, M., Fujishima, H., Ohno, R.-I., et al. (2016). Involvement of Ca2+-Dependent Hyperpolarization in Sleep Duration in Mammals. Neuron *90*, 70-85. 10.1016/j.neuron.2016.02.032. Tobler, I. (1983). Effect of forced locomotion on the rest-activity cycle of the cockroach. Behavioural Brain Research *8*, 351-360. 10.1016/0166-4328(83)90180-8.

Tomita, J., Ueno, T., Mitsuyoshi, M., Kume, S., and Kume, K. (2015). The NMDA Receptor Promotes Sleep in the Fruit Fly, Drosophila melanogaster. PLOS ONE *10*, e0128101. 10.1371/journal.pone.0128101.

van Alphen, B., Yap, M.H., Kirszenblat, L., Kottler, B., and van Swinderen, B. (2013). A dynamic deep sleep stage in Drosophila. J Neurosci *33*, 6917-6927. 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0061-13.2013.

Walker, M.P., and Stickgold, R. (2004). Sleep-dependent learning and memory consolidation. Neuron *44*, 121-133. 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.08.031.

Wienholds, E., and Plasterk, R.H.A. (2005). MicroRNA function in animal development. FEBS Letters *579*, 5911-5922. 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.07.070.

Wightman, B., Ha, I., and Ruvkun, G. (1993). Posttranscriptional regulation of the heterochronic gene lin-14 by lin-4 mediates temporal pattern formation in C. elegans. Cell *75*, 855-862. 10.1016/0092-8674(93)90530-4.

Yasuyama, K., and Salvaterra, P.M. (1999). Localization of choline acetyltransferaseexpressing neurons inDrosophila nervous system. Microscopy Research and Technique *45*, 65-79. 10.1002/(sici)1097-0029(19990415)45:2<65::aid-jemt2>3.0.co;2-0.

Yekta, S., Shih, I., and Bartel, D.P. (2004). microRNA-Directed Cleavage of HOXB8 mRNA. Science *304*, 594-596. 10.1126/science.1097434.

Yi, W., Zhang, Y., Tian, Y., Guo, J., Li, Y., and Guo, A. (2013). A Subset of Cholinergic Mushroom Body Neurons Requires Go Signaling to Regulate Sleep inDrosophila. Sleep *36*, 1809-1821. 10.5665/sleep.3206.

You, S., Fulga, T.A., Van Vactor, D., and Jackson, F.R. (2018). Regulation of Circadian Behavior by Astroglial MicroRNAs in Drosophila. Genetics *208*, 1195-1207. 10.1534/genetics.117.300342.

Yu, Y., and Cao, X.-C. (2019). miR-190-5p in human diseases. Cancer Cell International *19*. 10.1186/s12935-019-0984-x.

Zhang, R., Du, J., Zhao, X., Wei, L., and Zhao, Z. (2021a). Regulation of circadian behavioural output via clock-responsive miR-276b. Insect Mol Biol *30*, 81-89. 10.1111/imb.12679.

Zhang, R., Zhao, X., Du, J., Wei, L., and Zhao, Z. (2021b). Regulatory mechanism of daily sleep by miR-276a. FASEB J *35*, e21222. 10.1096/fj.202001220R.

Zimmerman, J.E., Chan, M.T., Lenz, O.T., Keenan, B.T., Maislin, G., and Pack, A.I. (2017). Glutamate Is a Wake-Active Neurotransmitter in Drosophila melanogaster. Sleep *40*. 10.1093/sleep/zsw046.

Chapter 2

miR-190 Acts in the Pupal Nervous System to Regulate Neurotransmitter Identity in Glu^{ACh} Cells and Sleep Behavior

microRNAs are endogenous, short transcripts of non-coding RNA, with posttranscriptional regulatory functions (Huntzinger and Izaurralde, 2011). microRNAs have been shown to regulate sleep behaviors in an evolutionarily conserved manner (Chen and Rosbash, 2016; 2017; Davis et al., 2007; Davis et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2021a; Zhang et al., 2021b). The study of microRNAs function has benefitted from the use of microRNA-sponges (Donelson et al., 2020; Fulga et al., 2015; Loya et al., 2009; You et al., 2018). The Griffith lab screened a library of 143 micro-RNA-sponges (Fulga et al., 2015; Goodwin et al., 2018), aiming to find microRNAs involved in the regulation of sleep behaviors in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Various microRNAs were identified to be linked to sleep behavior, with 8 microRNAs found to be wake-promoting and 17 others identified as sleep promoting (Goodwin et al., 2018). Among the sleep-promoting microRNAs identified by Goodwin et al. (2018), we find the microRNA *miR-190*. The current project seeks to further unravel *miR-190* regulatory function on sleep.

miR-190 in Neurons Regulates Multiple Sleep Parameters

To knockdown the function of *miR-190* we used a transgenic miRNA sponge as previously described (Fulga et al., 2015; Goodwin et al., 2018). To determine whether the role of *miR-190* on sleep was neuronal, miR-190-SP was expressed under the panneuronal driver *nsyb-GAL4*. Flies pan-neuronally expressing the miR-190-SP showed a





significant decrease in total sleep, both during the day and night (Figure 2.1A and 2.1B). sleep is determined by structural parameters including number of sleep episodes and sleep episode duration. We observed changes in these structural parameters, upon pan-neuronal expression of miR-190-SP. nsyb-Gal4 > miR-190-SP flies showed a fragmented sleep behavior, with a significant increase in number of sleep episodes during the day (Figure 2.1C) and a significant decrease in duration during both day and night (Figure 2.1D), compared to controls. To determine an effect of miR-190 knockdown on sleep pressure, P(Wake) and P(Doze) were calculated (Wiggin et al., 2020). Interestingly, these animals show an increase P(Wake), a parameter associated with high dopaminergic tone, but not P(Doze) (Figure 2.1E-F). The observed changes in sleep behavior upon miR-190 pan-neuronal knockdown were not due to an increase in locomotor activity (Figure 2.1G). Taken together, these results demonstrate a neuronal role of miR-190 in the regulation of sleep. These effects were found to be neuronalspecific, as expressing miR-190-SP in glial cells by means of a repo-GAL4 had no effects on sleep (data not shown).

miR-190 acts in Glu^{ACh} cells to Regulate Sleep

To map the effect of *miR-190* to a specific population of cells, we inhibited the microRNA's function in a neuron type-specific manner using GAL4 drivers. Cholinergic cells are known to have generally wake-promoting effects (Seidner et al., 2015; Wu et al., 2014). To address whether *miR-190* acts to regulate sleep in cholinergic cells we expressed miR-190-SP under the cholinergic driver *chat-GAL4*.



Figure 2.2. *miR-190* acts in Glu^{Ach} cells to regulate sleep. Mean total sleep during both day and night upon *miR-190-SP* expression under the cholinergic chat-GAL4 (A) or the glutamatergic driver vglut-GAL4 (B) relative to UAS control and scramble control. (C) Mean daytime and nighttime total sleep for animals simultaneously expressing vglut-GAL80 and miR-190-SP under chat-GAL4, relative to *chat-GAL4* > *miR-190-SP*, UAS and scramble controls. (D) vglutAD:vachtDBD-GAL4 design. Split-GAL4 activation and DNA-binding domains were inserted into *VAChT* and *VGluT* genes by means of CRISPR. (E) Expression of Red-Stinger under vglutAD:vachtDBD-GAL4 for visualization of Glu^{ACh} cells. (F) Mean daytime and nighttime total sleep for animals expressing miR-190-SP under vglutAD:vachtDBD-GAL4. Whiskers represent maxima and minima. Circle data points representing individuals overlaid box-and-whiskers. Letters indicate groups of statistical similarity (p<0.05) for one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test or Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Numbers of individuals per group are reported next to the genotype.

When expressing the miR-190-SP in cholinergic cells we observed results that very closely phenocopied miR-190 pan-neuronal knockdown. chat-GAL4 > miR-190-SP flies showed a significant decrease in total sleep during both daytime and nighttime (Fig. 2.2A, Supplementary Figure 1.A). Similar to cholinergic cells, glutamatergic cells have been shown to induce wake-promoting effects in the Drosophila brain (Zimmerman et al., 2017). Interestingly, expression of miR-190-SP in glutamatergic cells by means of the vglut-GAL4 driver also replicated pan-neuronal and cholinergic inhibition of miR-190 function. *vglut-GAL4 > miR-190-SP* flies showed decreased total sleep during both day and night (Fig. 2.2B, Supplementary Figure 1.B). Previous evidence had demonstrated that some subsets glutamatergic cells in the ventral ganglion express genes of the cholinergic transmitter system (Lacin et al., 2019). To address whether miR-190 acts in such population of cells, flies were designed to express miR-190-SP under the chat-GAL4 driver, while simultaneously expressing vglut-GAL80, to inhibit GAL4 in VGluT⁺ cells. *chat-GAL4; vglut-GAL80 > miR-190-SP* animals showed a rescue in their sleep behavior, with no changes in total sleep relative to control groups (Figure 2.2C, Supplementary Figure 1.C), suggesting that there may be a population of cells in the adult brain that express both cholinergic and glutamatergic genes.

To more precisely capture the *miR-190* locus of action, split-GAL4 domains (AD and DBD) were inserted into the *VGluT* and *VAChT* genes by means of CRISPR

(Figure 2.2D). Neurons targeted by this split-GAL4 combination will be referred to as Glu^{ACh} cells (Figure 2E). Expression of miR-190-SP in Glu^{ACh} cells results in a strong

sleep phenotype, with a decrease in total sleep during both day and night (Figure 2.2F, Supplementary Figure 1.D).

To further understand whether the activity of Glu^{ACh} cells had an effect on sleep, we activated them by means of the heat-activated transient receptor potential ion channel dTRPA1 (Hamada et al., 2008), either during pupation or adulthood to determine if their activity was important for setting sleep levels. To activate Glu^{ACh} cells during pupation, animals were raised at 18°C until the onset of pupation when they were exposed to 29°C in intervals of 1 hour for a total of 4 times a day, until they reached



dTRPA1 (32) - vglutAD:chatDBD-Split-GAL4 (19)
 vglutAD:chatDBD-Split-GAL4 > dTRPA1 (31)

Figure 2.3. Pupal activation of Glu^{ACh} cells decreases nighttime sleep and induces sleep fragmentation. (A) Sleep per 30 mins across 24 hours of LD. (B) Mean total sleep during both day and night relative to UAS control and scramble control. (C-D) Number of sleep episodes and sleep episode duration during daytime and nighttime. Whiskers represent maxima and minima. Circle data points representing individuals overlaid box-and-whiskers. Letters indicate groups of statistical similarity (p<0.05) for one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test or Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Numbers of individuals per group are reported next to the genotype.

adulthood. Pupal activation of Glu^{ACh} cells led to a decrease in total sleep during the night (Figure 2.3A-B) and an increase in sleep fragmentation, with more sleep episodes of shorter duration during the day and night (Figure 2.3C-D). To induce activation of Glu^{ACh} cells during adulthood, animals were raised at 18°C until reaching adulthood when they were exposed to 29°C in intervals of 1 hour for a total of 4 times a day, during the first 4 days of adulthood. Adult activation of Glu^{ACh} cells lead to an increase in sleep fragmentation with more sleep episodes of shorter duration during both daytime





Figure 2.4. Adult activation of Glu^{ACh} cells induces sleep fragmentation. (A) Sleep per 30 mins across 24 hours of LD. (B) Mean total sleep during both day and night relative to UAS control and scramble control. (C-D) Number of sleep episodes and sleep episode duration during daytime and nighttime. Whiskers represent maxima and minima. Circle data points representing individuals overlaid box-and-whiskers. Letters indicate groups of statistical similarity (p<0.05) for one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test or Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Numbers of individuals per group are reported next to the genotype.

and nighttime (Figure 2.4C-D). Taken together, these results suggest that *miR-190* acts in a cluster of cells with transcriptionally active *ChaT* and *VGluT* genes which exhibit sleep-regulating activity and that its role may be regulated by neuronal firing.

miR-190 acts during pupation to affect sleep

Sleep regulators may act either during development, on the formation/maturation of circuits important for sleep (Chakravarti Dilley et al., 2020; Xie et al., 2019), or acutely during adulthood (reviewed in Crocker and Sehgal, 2010). To determine the window in which *miR-190* acts we expressed miR-190-SP pan-neuronally using the *nsyb-GAL4* driver, while simultaneously expressing the ubiquitous temperature-sensitive GAL4 inhibitor *tubulin-GAL80*^{ts} (McGuire et al., 2003). *nsyb-Gal4; tub-Gal80*^{ts} > *miR-190-SP* flies express miR-190-SP at 29°C but not at 18°C. To limit the expression of miR-190-



- miR-190-SP(19-32) — tub-GAL80^{ts}; nsyb-GAL4 > scramble (31-32)



Figure 2.5. *miR-190* acts during pupation to affect sleep. Mean daytime and nighttime total sleep for flies panneuronally expressing miR-190-SP during early development (L1-L3), pupal stage (P2-P5) or adulthood; by means of tub-GAL80^{ts}. Whiskers represent maxima and minima. Circle data points representing individuals overlaid box-andwhiskers. Letters indicate groups of statistical similarity (p<0.05) for one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test or Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Numbers of individuals per group are reported next to the genotype. SP to the pupal stage, animals were raised at 18° C until pupation, then were shifted to 29° C until day 2 post eclosion when they were shifted to 25° C and tested for sleep behavior. Pan-neuronal-pupal expression of miR-190-SP phenocopied the constitutive pan-neuronal knockdown of *miR-190*, with flies showing a significant decrease in total sleep during both day and night compared to controls (Figure 2.5, Supplementary Figure 2). miR-190-SP expression prior to pupation or during adulthood showed no statistically significant effects on the amount of sleep. These results suggest a role of *miR-190* on the establishment of adult sleep levels during pupation.

miR-190 is required for downregulation of cholinergic genes

miRNAs carry out their role by operating as posttranscriptional regulators of specific target

Gene	Developmental Stage	Fold- Change	P-Value
chat	Pupae	3.08	0.0005
vacht	Pupae	1.71	0.14
midline	Pupae	300	0.0022
spab	Adult	1.95	0.0143

 Table 2.1. Upregulated cholinergic related genes upon miR-190-SP pan-neuronal expression in pupal or adult brains. Genes upregulated upon miR-190-SP pan-neuronal expression during pupation or adulthood. Fold-change and P-value significance for edgeR differential expression analysis relative to scramble controls is shown.

mRNAs, either inhibiting their translation or promoting their degradation (Jonas and Izaurralde, 2015). To identify *miR-190* mRNA targets for sleep regulation we performed paired-end RNA sequencing. *nsyb-GAL4 > miR-190-SP; GAL80^{ts}* animals were raised at 18°C to suppress miR-190-SP expression, and temperature was raised to 29°C after pupal day 2 to induce miR-190-SP expression, knocking down miR-190 in a pupal-specific manner. On the last day of pupation (pharate stage) brains

were dissected and RNA was extracted for RNAseq (Kim et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2021). RNAseq was also performed using RNA extracted from *nsyb-GAL4* > *miR-190-SP* adult heads. EdgeR was used to analyze differential gene expression and RNAseq data was sorted using the following criteria: (1) predicted *miR-190* targets; (2) transmitter-specific markers (2) and (3) transmitter-enriched transcription factors. Among the *miR-190* direct targets differentially expressed we found *Chat*, the synthetic enzyme for ACh (3.08-fold, P=0.00051 in pupae) and *spab*, which operates in complex with the cholinergicallyenriched transcription factors *CG10656* and *knot* (Shokri et al., 2019) (1.95-fold,



midline (32) — vglutAD:vachtDBD-Split-GAL4 (30)
 — vglutAD:vachtDBD-Split-GAL4 > midline (21)

Figure 2.6. *midline* over-expression in Glu^{ACh} cells partially phenocopies *miR-190* knockdown. (A) Sleep per 30 mins across 24 hours of LD. (B) Mean total sleep during both day and night relative to UAS control and scramble control. (C-D) Number of sleep episodes and sleep episode duration during daytime and nighttime. Whiskers represent maxima and minima. Circle data points representing individuals overlaid box-and-whiskers. Letters indicate groups of statistical similarity (p<0.05) for one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test or Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Numbers of individuals per group are reported next to the genotype.

P=0.01439 in adults) (Table 2.1). Additionally, we observed an upregulation of *midline*, a transcription factor predicted to be a suppressor of glutamatergic fate (Estacio-Gomez et al., 2020; Leal et al., 2009) (300-fold, P=0.022 in pupae) (Table 2.1). These were vglut-GAL4; tub-GAL80ts > UAS-miR-190-SP; ECFP-VAChT



Figure 2.7. *miR-190* acts in Glu^{ACh} neurons to suppress VAChT translation. ECFP signal is increased upon both pupal and adult expression of miR-190-SP under the glutamatergic driver vglut-GAL4.

considered of interest, given our sleep behavior results, which demonstrated that knockdown of miR-190 in cholinergic, glutamatergic, and Glu^{ACh} cells lead to a disrupted sleep behavior (Figure 2.2). Interestingly,

mid over expression in Glu^{ACh} cells partially phenocopies *miR-190* KD, having a decrease in total sleep during the nighttime (Figure 2.6. A-B) and an increase in sleep fragmentation, with animals showing significantly more sleep episodes (Figure 2.6C) of shorter duration (Figure 2.6D) during both day and night.

Additionally, we observe that expression of miR-190-SP in glutamatergic cells induced an increase in ECFP-VAChT signal in FSB neurons, relative to scramble control (Figure 2.7). These results demonstrate that under normal conditions, *miR-190* acts to suppress translation of VAChT in Glu^{ACh} neurons.

Taken together these data suggests a role of *miR-190* for the suppression of cholinergic identity in Glu^{ACh} cells. Our results suggest that under normal conditions

miR-190 acts to suppress cholinergic identity through the downregulation of cholinergic

Developmental

Stage

Adult

Adult

Adult

Adult

targets and the suppressor of neuronal glutamatergic fate determination midline.

miR-190 inhibition alters dopaminergic tone

Gene

vmat dop1r1

dat

dop2r

Our previous results indicated that *miR*-

190 pan-neuronal

knockdown leads to

deficits in sleep

rebound (Goodwin

Table 2.2. Downregulated dopaminergic genes upon miR-190-SP pan-neuronalexpression and Sleep Deprivation in adult brains.Dopaminergic genesdownregulated upon sleep deprivation and constitutive pan-neuronal expression ofmiR-190-SP.Fold-change and P-value significance for edgeR differential expressionanalysis relative to scramble controls is shown.

et al., 2018). It has also been shown

that there are changes in gene expression

after sleep deprivation (Gilestro et al.,

2009). To determine if the response to SD

is disrupted by miR-

190 inhibition we performed RNAseq

heads from *nsyb-GAL4* > *miR-190-SP*

(and scramble controls) at ZT0 after 12

hours of sleep deprivation (non-deprived

flies were also used as controls). Our

results showed a decrease in expression

of dopaminergic genes after SD in animals pan-neuronally expressing miR-190-SP,



Fold-

Decrease

2

1.8

1.9

1.6

P-Value

0.0297

0.0023

0.0447

0.0904

— miR-190-SP (21-27) — nsyb-GAL4 > scramble (20-30) — nsyb-GAL4 > miR-190-SP (21-32)

Figure 2.8. miR-190-SP flies are specifically sensitive to dopamine signaling. Flies were fed with either THIP (0.1 mg/mL) or 3IY (0.3125 mg/mL). Whiskers represent maxima and minima. Circle data points representing individuals overlaid box-and-whiskers. Letters indicate groups of statistical similarity (p<0.05) for one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Numbers of individuals per group are reported next to the genotype. but not in controls. Among these genes were the vesicular monoamine transporter VMAT (2.0-fold, P=0.02971), the dopamine transporter DAT (1.9-fold, P=0.04471), and a dopamine receptor, Dop1R1 (1.8-fold, P=0.00238) (Table 2.2). These results suggests that the low levels of total sleep in miR-190-SP animals may be due to increase baseline levels of dopaminergic signaling (Supplementary Table 1). Our data suggests that upon sleep deprivation, elevated levels of dopaminergic signaling would have to be decreased to allow animals to sleep rebound, and this compensation could be achieved by decreasing expression of dopaminergic genes.

To assess whether the low levels of baseline sleep in miR-190-SP expressing animals were due to aberrant high levels of DA signaling, *nsyb-GAL4 > miR-190-SP* (and their respective scramble controls) were fed the dopaminergic synthesis inhibitor 3-lodo-Tyrosine (3IY), previously shown to be a strong somnogen (Andretic et al., 2005). Feeding 3IY lead to an increase in total sleep for nsyb-GAL4 > miR-190-SP but not for their respective controls (Figure 2.8). To discard the possibility of the sleep rescue coming from a parallel pathway independent of *miR-190*'s effect and not DA specific, we fed flies with the GABA_A agonist Gaboxadol (THIP). Feeding of THIP did not have significantly different effects on miR-190-SP and scramble groups (Figure 2.8). Additionally, our HPLC analysis of bioamine levels in brains showed no difference in steady-state levels (Figure 2.9), suggesting that the proposed increase in DA signaling is limited specifically to the sleep circuit rather than globally. miR-190-SP animals show no hyperactive locomotor activity (Figure 2.1G), which would be expected to see with global increases of DA signaling such as that observed upon amphetamine treatment (Andretic et al., 2005).

Given the well-established role of dopamine as the main neurochemical effector of arousal (Andretic *et al.*, 2005), at least partially via inhibition of the dFSB circuit (Liu *et al.*, 2012; Ueno et al., 2012), our data posits that in the miR-190SP flies there is an elevated baseline dopaminergic activity, which posits a need to downregulate dopaminergic signaling in the dFSB upon SD. To investigate the effect of *miR-190* on the neuronal activity of the dFSB we utilized the genetically encoded calcium indicator GCaMP. GCaMP was expressed in in dopaminergic projections onto the dFSB be means of the *TH-LexA* driver, while pan-neuronally expressing miR-190-SP under the elav-GAL4 driver. *elav-GAL4; TH-LexA* > *miR-190-SP; GCaMP* flies showed a significantly higher Δ F/F0 than their respective scramble control, upon stimulation with the cholinergic agonist carbachol (Figure 2.10A-B). Taken together our data suggests

that *miR-190* knock-down effects on sleep may be due to an increase in dopaminergic signaling locally in the dFSB. Summarizing, our results demonstrate that *miR-190* is required in neurons for its sleep-regulatory functions. We specifically demonstrate that *miR-190* acts during pupation to establish the adult sleep behavior. Our results map *miR-190* sleep regulatory function to a peculiar and previously undescribed population of neurons with cotranscription of both glutamatergic and cholinergic markers. The current work shows that in these cells, *miR-190* acts to suppress cholinergic markers and hence promote glutamatergic differentiation. Additionally, our



Figure 2.9. miR-190-SP expression has no effects on global levels of DA. *nsyb-GAL4* > *miR-190-SP* (and *scramble*) male fly brains were dissected and used for HPLC against DA. A ratio between DA and 5HT was calculated. Whiskers represent maxima and minima. Circle data points representing individuals overlaid box-and-whiskers. NS represents p>0.05 for Mann-Whitney test.

results show that *miR-190* acts to suppress neuronal activity in dopaminergic projections upon dFSB cells.



Figure 2.10. Pan-neuronal miR-190-SP expression leads to increase neuronal activity in TH+ projections onto the dFSB. (A) GCaMP signals were recorded from TH+ projections on the dFSB, while simultaneously perfusing AHL for 30 seconds (baseline), followed by Carbachol [100 μ M] perfusion for 120 seconds, followed by a AHL wash for 90 seconds. (B) Delta F/F was calculated from baseline signal and signal during Carbachol perfusion. Whiskers represent maxima and minima. Circle data points representing individuals overlaid box-and-whiskers. Asterisk represents statistical significance (p<0.05) for Mann-Whitney test.

Experimental Procedures

Drosophila Lines

UAS lines include *UAS-miR-190-SP* and *UAS-scramble-SP* (Fulga et al., 2015), 20XUAS-IVS-dTRPA1 (Hamada et al., 2008), UAS-mid2.12 (Miskolczi-McCallum et al., 2005), and UAS-Red-Stinger. LexAop strains include *LexAop-GCamp6f* (Bloomington #44277). GAL4 strains include *nsyb-GAL4*, *elav-GAL4* (Bloomington #458), *chat-GAL4* (Bloomington #60317), *vglut-GAL4* (Bloomington #38078). A *th-LexA* line was used (Dana et al., 2014). GAL80 lines include *tubulin-GAL80^{ts}* (McGuire et al., 2003), and *vglut-GAL80* (Bloomington #58448). Split-GAL4 lines include *vglut-AD* (Bloomington #82986) and *vacht-DBD* which was generated by cloning its DNA sequence into the *Drosophila* expression vector pBS-KS-attB2-SA(1)-T2A-Gal4DBD-Hsp70 which was then integrated into Mi{MIC}ChAT[MI08244] on chromosome 3.

Drosophila Husbandry

Flies were grown on standard cornmeal-dextrose-yeast agar medium at 25°C in a 12-hr LD cycle. To express miR-190-SP during development or adulthood with *tubulin-GAL80*^{ts}, flies were raised at either 18°C or 29°C. To avoid lethality due to constitutive activation of Glu^{ACh} cells with dTRPA1 during either development or adulthood, flies were exposed to 4x 1h periods of 29°C, each 29°C period was followed by 2h periods of 18°C.

For pharmacological experiments animals were grown on standard cornmeal-dextroseyeast agar medium until adulthood. 3-5 days old animals were loaded in DAM tubes

containing either Thip (Gaboxadol) or 3-lodo-Tyrosine, diluted in a food mixture of 2% agar and 5% sucrose, at a concentration of 0.1 mg/mL and 0.3125 mg/mL, respectively. Drug concentrations were chosen in such a way that sleep behavior of control animals was not disrupted.

Sleep Assays

Sleep was measured using the Drosophila Activity Monitoring (DAM) system (Trikinetics, Waltham, MA), as previously described (Donelson et al., 2012). 3-5 days post-eclosion flies were loaded into glass tubes with a food mixture of 2% agar and 5% sucrose. Temperature was kept at 25°C for the duration of the experiment unless differently specified. Flies were raised and tested under a 12:12 Light:Dark cycle. Flies showing periods of more than 5 minutes of immobility were classified as sleeping (Hendricks et al., 2000). Flies were entrained for 2 days, and sleep was averaged across 3-5 days.

Analysis Software and Statistical Testing

Sleep data was analyzed using the Sleep and Circadian Analysis MATLAB Program (SCAMP) (Donelson et al., 2012). Statistical analysis was performed with GraphPad Prism. For all sleep parameters a D'Agostino & Pearson test was used to determine normality of data. If data was normally distributed it was analyzed using a T-test or ANOVA (depending on the number of groups) with Tukey test for multiple comparisons. If data was not normally distributed it was analyzed using a Mann-Whitney or Kruskal-Wallis test with a Dunn's test for multiple comparisons.

Immunohistochemistry

Fly brains were dissected in cold Schneider Insect Medium (S2). Brains were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in S2 at room temperature for 55 minutes. After fixation brains were washed 4x with phosphate buffered saline with 0.5% Triton X-100 (PBST) while nutating. Brains were then placed in blocking solution (PBST with 5% normal goat serum (NGS; Invitrogen) for 1.5 hours at room temperature while nutating. Blocking solution was removed and brains were incubated in primary antibodies diluted in 5% NGS for 4 hours at room temperature followed by 2 overnights of incubation at 4°C while nutating. Brains were then washed 4x in 0.5% PBST and incubated with secondary antibodies diluted in 5% NGS for 4 hours at room temperature followed by 3 overnights of incubation at 4°C while nutating. Brains were washed in 4x in 0.5% PBST as previously described and then fixed in 4% PFA for 4 hours while nutating. Brains were washed in 4x in 0.5% PBST and mounted on slides using Vectashield Mounting Medium (Vector Laboratories). Slides were imaged on a Leica SP5 confocal microscope under 20x or 60x objective lens. Sum intensity projections were generated using FIJI software.

The primary antibodies used were: rabbit anti-GFP (1:1000, Thermo Fisher), mouse anti-GFP (1:200, Sigma) and mouse anti-Brp (1:100, DSHB). The secondary antibodies used were Alexa Fluor 488 anti-mouse/rabbit antibody (Invitrogen), and Alexa Fluor 635 anti-mouse/rabbit antibody (Invitrogen), both at 1:200 dilutions.

Paired-end RNA Sequencing

tub-GAL80^{ts}; *nsyb-GAL4* > *miR-190-SP* and *tub-GAL80*^{ts}; *nsyb-GAL4* > *scramble-SP* flies were raised at 18C and shifted to 29C 2 days after pupation onset, prior to dissection at pharate stage. Pharate brains were dissected in cold AHL with TTX. Total RNA was extracted using Trizol. mRNA was selected using Dynabeads mRNA DIRECT Purification Kit (Thermofisher). Paired-end sequence libraries were generated from the purified mRNA using NEXTflex Rapid Directional qRNA-Seq kit (Illumina) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. These libraries were quantified using an Agilent TapeStation and sequenced using a NextSeq 500 system (Illumina) with paired-end reads of 75bp. Three replicates were collected for each genotype. STAR was used to map the sequenced reads to the dm6 genome. The edgeR software package was used to perform Differential Gene Expression analysis on the mapped reads (Robinson et al., 2010).

High-Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC)

HPLC was performed with the collaboration with Jackeline Whitney Parker, from the Hirsh lab at the University of Virginia. Brains from 3-5 days old male flies were dissected and used for HPLC. Brains were transferred to a 1.5mL tube, containing 50uL of 50mM citric acid. Brains were quick-spined and homogenized. Homogenized supernatant was transferred to a spin filter and centrifuged at 11K rpm for 4 minutes. After samples were prepared, those were placed in dry ice and sent to the Hirsh lab for analysis. 40uL of sample were loaded and measures were taken using ChromeNav. DA peak values were normalized to 5HT.

GCaMP6f Imaging

Imaged flies were males, 3-5 days post-eclosion. *elav-GAL4; TH-LexA* > *miR-190-SP; GCamp6f* brains were dissected in cold AHL and loaded into a recording chamber submerged in AHL. GCaMP signals were recorded while simultaneously perfusing AHL for 30 seconds (baseline), followed by Carbachol [100 μ M] perfusion for 120 seconds, followed by a AHL wash for 90 seconds. Imaging data was acquired using a Zeiss 880 LSM confocal microscope with a 40x objective, at an acquisition rate of 1Hz (1 second exposure), a 1824x1424 resolution, and 4x4 binning. GCaMP signals were recorded from TH⁺ projections onto dFSB. Δ F/F was calculated from baseline signal and signal during Carbachol perfusion. Data was analyzed with a Mann-Whitney test using Prism GraphPad.

References

Andretic, R., van Swinderen, B., and Greenspan, R.J. (2005). Dopaminergic modulation of arousal in Drosophila. Curr Biol *15*, 1165-1175. 10.1016/j.cub.2005.05.025.

Chakravarti Dilley, L., Szuperak, M., Gong, N.N., Williams, C.E., Saldana, R.L., Garbe, D.S., Syed, M.H., Jain, R., and Kayser, M.S. (2020). Identification of a molecular basis for the juvenile sleep state. Elife *9*. 10.7554/eLife.52676.

Chen, X., and Rosbash, M. (2016). mir-276a strengthens Drosophila circadian rhythms by regulating timeless expression. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *113*, E2965-E2972. 10.1073/pnas.1605837113.

Chen, X., and Rosbash, M. (2017). MicroRNA-92a is a circadian modulator of neuronal excitability in Drosophila. Nature Communications *8*, 14707. 10.1038/ncomms14707.

Crocker, A., and Sehgal, A. (2010). Genetic analysis of sleep. Genes Dev 24, 1220-1235. 10.1101/gad.1913110.

Dana, Kristina, Lüdke, A., Anja, Yamagata, N., Jin, Chien, Szyszka, P., and Tanimoto, H. (2014). Converging Circuits Mediate Temperature and Shock Aversive Olfactory Conditioning in Drosophila. Current Biology *24*, 1712-1722. 10.1016/j.cub.2014.06.062.

Davis, C.J., Bohnet, S.G., Meyerson, J.M., and Krueger, J.M. (2007). Sleep loss changes microRNA levels in the brain: A possible mechanism for state-dependent translational regulation. Neuroscience Letters *422*, 68-73. 10.1016/j.neulet.2007.06.005.

Davis, C.J., Clinton, J.M., and Krueger, J.M. (2012). MicroRNA 138, let-7b, and 125a inhibitors differentially alter sleep and EEG delta-wave activity in rats. Journal of Applied Physiology *113*, 1756-1762. 10.1152/japplphysiol.00940.2012.

Donelson, N.C., Dixit, R., Pichardo-Casas, I., Chiu, E.Y., Ohman, R.T., Slawson, J.B., Klein, M., Fulga, T.A., Van Vactor, D., and Griffith, L.C. (2020). MicroRNAs Regulate Multiple Aspects of Locomotor Behavior in Drosophila. G3 Genes|Genomes|Genetics *10*, 43-55. 10.1534/g3.119.400793.

Fulga, T.A., McNeill, E.M., Binari, R., Yelick, J., Blanche, A., Booker, M., Steinkraus, B.R., Schnall-Levin, M., Zhao, Y., DeLuca, T., et al. (2015). A transgenic resource for conditional competitive inhibition of conserved Drosophila microRNAs. Nat Commun *6*, 7279. 10.1038/ncomms8279.

Gilestro, G.F., Tononi, G., and Cirelli, C. (2009). Widespread changes in synaptic markers as a function of sleep and wakefulness in Drosophila. Science *324*, 109-112. 10.1126/science.1166673.

Goodwin, P.R., Meng, A., Moore, J., Hobin, M., Fulga, T.A., Van Vactor, D., and Griffith, L.C. (2018). MicroRNAs Regulate Sleep and Sleep Homeostasis in Drosophila. Cell Rep *23*, 3776-3786. 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.05.078.

Hamada, F.N., Rosenzweig, M., Kang, K., Pulver, S.R., Ghezzi, A., Jegla, T.J., and Garrity, P.A. (2008). An internal thermal sensor controlling temperature preference in Drosophila. Nature *454*, 217-220. 10.1038/nature07001.

Huntzinger, E., and Izaurralde, E. (2011). Gene silencing by microRNAs: contributions of translational repression and mRNA decay. Nature Reviews Genetics *12*, 99-110. 10.1038/nrg2936.

Jonas, S., and Izaurralde, E. (2015). Towards a molecular understanding of microRNAmediated gene silencing. Nat Rev Genet *16*, 421-433. 10.1038/nrg3965.

Kim, E.Z., Vienne, J., Rosbash, M., and Griffith, L.C. (2017). Nonreciprocal homeostatic compensation in Drosophila potassium channel mutants. J Neurophysiol *117*, 2125-2136. 10.1152/jn.00002.2017.

Lacin, H., Chen, H.M., Long, X., Singer, R.H., Lee, T., and Truman, J.W. (2019). Neurotransmitter identity is acquired in a lineage-restricted manner in the Drosophila CNS. Elife *8*. 10.7554/eLife.43701.

Leal, S.M., Qian, L., Lacin, H., Bodmer, R., and Skeath, J.B. (2009). Neuromancer1 and Neuromancer2 regulate cell fate specification in the developing embryonic CNS of Drosophila melanogaster. Dev Biol *325*, 138-150. 10.1016/j.ydbio.2008.10.006.

Liu, C., Meng, Z., Wiggin, T.D., Yu, J., Reed, M.L., Guo, F., Zhang, Y., Rosbash, M., and Griffith, L.C. (2019). A Serotonin-Modulated Circuit Controls Sleep Architecture to Regulate Cognitive Function Independent of Total Sleep in Drosophila. Current Biology *29*, 3635-3646.e3635. 10.1016/j.cub.2019.08.079.

Liu, Q., Liu, S., Kodama, L., Driscoll, M.R., and Wu, M.N. (2012). Two dopaminergic neurons signal to the dorsal fan-shaped body to promote wakefulness in Drosophila. Curr Biol *22*, 2114-2123. 10.1016/j.cub.2012.09.008.

Loya, C.M., Lu, C.S., Van Vactor, D., and Fulga, T.A. (2009). Transgenic microRNA inhibition with spatiotemporal specificity in intact organisms. Nature Methods *6*, 897-903. 10.1038/nmeth.1402.

Ma, D., Przybylski, D., Abruzzi, K.C., Schlichting, M., Li, Q., Long, X., and Rosbash, M. (2021). A transcriptomic taxonomy of Drosophila circadian neurons around the clock. Elife *10*. 10.7554/eLife.63056.

McGuire, S.E., Le, P.T., Osborn, A.J., Matsumoto, K., and Davis, R.L. (2003). Spatiotemporal rescue of memory dysfunction in Drosophila. Science *302*, 1765-1768. 10.1126/science.1089035.

Seidner, G., Robinson, J.E., Wu, M., Worden, K., Masek, P., Roberts, S.W., Keene, A.C., and Joiner, W.J. (2015). Identification of Neurons with a Privileged Role in Sleep Homeostasis in Drosophila melanogaster. Curr Biol *25*, 2928-2938. 10.1016/j.cub.2015.10.006.

Shokri, L., Inukai, S., Hafner, A., Weinand, K., Hens, K., Vedenko, A., Gisselbrecht, S.S., Dainese, R., Bischof, J., Furger, E., et al. (2019). A Comprehensive Drosophila melanogaster Transcription Factor Interactome. Cell Rep 27, 955-970 e957. 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.03.071.

Ueno, T., Tomita, J., Tanimoto, H., Endo, K., Ito, K., Kume, S., and Kume, K. (2012). Identification of a dopamine pathway that regulates sleep and arousal in Drosophila. Nat Neurosci *15*, 1516-1523. 10.1038/nn.3238.

Viswanath, V., Story, G.M., Peier, A.M., Petrus, M.J., Lee, V.M., Hwang, S.W., Patapoutian, A., and Jegla, T. (2003). Opposite thermosensor in fruitfly and mouse. Nature *423*, 822-823. 10.1038/423822a.

Wiggin, T.D., Goodwin, P.R., Donelson, N.C., Liu, C., Trinh, K., Sanyal, S., and Griffith, L.C. (2020). Covert sleep-related biological processes are revealed by probabilistic analysis in Drosophila. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *117*, 10024-10034. 10.1073/pnas.1917573117.

Wu, M., Robinson, J.E., and Joiner, W.J. (2014). SLEEPLESS is a bifunctional regulator of excitability and cholinergic synaptic transmission. Curr Biol *24*, 621-629. 10.1016/j.cub.2014.02.026.

Xie, X., Tabuchi, M., Corver, A., Duan, G., Wu, M.N., and Kolodkin, A.L. (2019). Semaphorin 2b Regulates Sleep-Circuit Formation in the Drosophila Central Brain. Neuron *104*, 322-337 e314. 10.1016/j.neuron.2019.07.019.

You, S., Fulga, T.A., Van Vactor, D., and Jackson, F.R. (2018). Regulation of Circadian Behavior by Astroglial MicroRNAs in Drosophila. Genetics *208*, 1195-1207. 10.1534/genetics.117.300342.

Zhang, R., Du, J., Zhao, X., Wei, L., and Zhao, Z. (2021a). Regulation of circadian behavioural output via clock-responsive miR-276b. Insect Mol Biol *30*, 81-89. 10.1111/imb.12679.

Zhang, R., Zhao, X., Du, J., Wei, L., and Zhao, Z. (2021b). Regulatory mechanism of daily sleep by miR-276a. FASEB J *35*, e21222. 10.1096/fj.202001220R.

Zimmerman, J.E., Chan, M.T., Lenz, O.T., Keenan, B.T., Maislin, G., and Pack, A.I. (2017). Glutamate Is a Wake-Active Neurotransmitter in Drosophila melanogaster. Sleep *40*. 10.1093/sleep/zsw046.

Chapter 3

Discussion

Previous work has linked microRNAs to the regulation of several biological processes and behaviors, including sleep (Chen and Rosbash, 2016; 2017; Davis et al., 2007; Davis et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2021a; Zhang et al., 2021b). To find specific microRNAs involved in the regulation of sleep our lab performed a screen using a library of microRNA sponges targeting specific microRNAs (Fulga et al., 2015; Goodwin et al., 2018). The screening performed by Goodwin et al. (2018) identified 33 microRNAs involved in the regulation of sleep, with 8 microRNAs identified as wake-promoting and 17 others identified as sleep promoting. Among the sleep promoting microRNAs identified in by Goodwin et al. (2018), we find the microRNA miR-190. Our early findings showed that either global or pan-neuronal knockdown of *miR-190* leads to disruptions in sleep behavior, with flies showing decreased total sleep and increased sleep fragmentation relative to scramble controls (Goodwin et al., 2018). The current work aimed to further understand miR-190's role on the regulation of sleep and arousal. My work specifically looked into determining: (1) miR-190's locus of action for sleep regulation, (2) miR-190's requirement for establishing sleep levels and architecture during development, adulthood or both and (3) miR-190's mRNA target identification and mechanism of action.

Specifically knocking down miR-190's function in glutamatergic cells, by means of expression of miR-190-SP under a *vglut-GAL4* driver, phenocopied *miR-190* panneuronal knockdown, with animals showing a dramatic decrease in total sleep and

increased sleep fragmentation. Interestingly the same effect was observed when expressing miR-190-SP under the cholinergic driver *chat-GAL4*. These results prompted us to ponder the possibility of *miR-190* acting in a population of cell with both glutamatergic and cholinergic neurotransmitter identity. To address the possibility of miR-190 acting in neurons with dual neurotransmitter machinery, we designed split-GAL4 drivers. Using CRISPR we engineered split-GAL4 domains (AD and DBD) into the VAChT and VGluT genes. Interestingly, expression of miR-190-SP under this vglut: vacht-split-GAL4 combination, phenocopied the sleep behavior observed when expressing the sponge under the aforementioned pan-neuronal, glutamatergic, and cholinergic drivers. We refer to the cells targeted by this split-GAL4 combination as Glu^{ACh} neurons. Given that no overlap between the cholinergic and glutamatergic populations had been reported in the adult brain, we assessed whether the effect of the sponge was due to expression at an earlier time in development, by limiting nsyb > miR-190-SP expression with tub-GAL80^{ts}. Our results showed that miR-190-SP expression specifically during pupation, but not during earlier or later stages, elicited statistically significant changes in sleep that phenocopied the constitutive knockdown of miR-190 in all neurons, or specifically in the neurons targeted by the vglut-GAL4 and chat-GAL4 drivers. These results coincided with other findings from our lab which demonstrated that Glu^{ACh} cells co-transcribe glutamatergic and cholinergic genes from pupation to adulthood (Y. Zhang, unpublished). Additionally, our results demonstrate that expression miR-190-SP in Glu^{ACh} neurons leads to an increase in VAChT::ECFP signal, relative to scramble control. These findings are in agreement with our results from RNA sequencing that demonstrate an upregulation of the cholinergic genes chat, vacht, and

spab, and the suppressor of glutamatergic differentiation *mid* (Estacio-Gomez et al., 2020; Leal et al., 2009). Taken together these results strongly suggest that miR-190 acts in Glu^{ACh} cells to inhibit their cholinergic differentiation and promote glutamatergic cell fate.

The drastic reduction of sleep seen with knockdown of *miR-190* implies an aberrant configuration of the sleep circuits involved in the determination of daily sleep levels and arousal. Additionally, our results show that nsyb-GAL > miR-190-SP animals can only generate very low levels of compensatory sleep in response to sleep deprivation (Goodwin et al., 2018). This diminished response to sleep deprivation could be explained by the fact these animals have a low baseline sleep, hence the minutes they can be deprived are lower as well, leading to a lower sleep compensatory rebound. However, it was not clear whether this diminished compensatory sleep response could be completely explained by a floor effect. To determine whether the response to sleep deprivation is affected by inhibition of *miR-190* we performed RNA sequencing from heads of sleep deprived animals pan-neuronally expressing miR-190-SP. We observed that sleep deprived animals pan-neuronally expressing miR-190-SP showed a significant decrease in several dopaminergic related genes such as *vmat*, *dop1r1* and dat, relative to scramble controls. Given that dopamine is the principal neurochemical mediator of arousal (Andretic et al., 2005), and its known to act through the dFSB circuit (Liu et al., 2012; Ueno et al., 2012), our data suggested that knockdown of *miR-190* leads to an increase in baseline dopaminergic signaling, which posits a need to suppress dopaminergic signaling upon sleep deprivation, for the animal to compensate for sleep loss. Our results demonstrated as well that the observed low levels of baseline

sleep observed upon *miR-190* knockdown could be explained by an increase in baseline dopaminergic signaling. This idea was supported by the fact that treatment with the dopamine synthesis inhibitor 3IY resulted in a rescue of the sleep behavior. Additionally, our assessment of neuronal activity of TH+ projections on the dFSB, by means of the calcium indicator GCaMP, demonstrated higher responses to carbachol stimulation in miR-190-SP expressing animals, relative to controls. HPLC analysis of bioamine levels from whole brains did not detect any global changes in DA levels, suggesting a locus-specific effect of *miR-190* on dopaminergic signaling. This is also supported by the fact that miR-190-SP expressing animals don't show a hyperlocomotor behavior, as has been observed with global increases in dopamine levels, for example, by means of amphetamine treatment (Andretic et al., 2005).

The Model:

This work suggests a mechanism for the establishment of adult sleep and arousal baseline. In this model, the microRNA *miR-190* acts in a specific group of pupal neurons to inhibit their expression of cholinergic proteins, hence determining their glutamatergic fate. Our experiments demonstrate that inhibition of *miR-190* result in the upregulation of several cholinergic target genes during pupation, concomitant with a disrupted adult sleep behavior, with decreased total sleep and increased sleep fragmentation. In this section I will postulate a model for the role of *miR-190* on the regulation of sleep by acting on the development of the neuronal sleep circuitry.

Studies demonstrate that the core sleep homeostasis circuit also serves as the most potent sleep-generating circuit in *Drosophila* (Donlea et al., 2011). In this sleep-

generating circuit the intrinsic neurons of the dFSB (exF12) operate as the node for integration between sleep promoting signals and the arousal system (Figure 3.1). Inputs from the arousal system into the dFSB are carried by a small number PPL1



protocerebrum (Ni et al., 2019). Additional pro-sleep inputs onto exF12 cells also includes feedback from the ellipsoid body which, interestingly, receives input from exF12 and operates as a sensory integrator (Donlea et al., 2018). The nature of prosleep inputs from the ellipsoid body onto exF12 remains to be determined. Evidence has shown exF12 cells release both GABA and peptides (Donlea et al., 2018; Ni et al., 2019). Additionally, results from our FP marking system have demonstrated these cells to be glutamatergic (Figure 3.2),



Figure 3.2. exF12 cells are glutamatergic. IHC from 84C10-GAL4 > FLP; FRTstop-FRT-GFP-VGluT adult brains. FLP recombination in dFSB cells removes a stop cassette from the VGluT::GFP allele and marks them as VGluT⁺.

suggesting they could act to inhibit downstream targets via GluCl or mGluR. Also, exF12 cells are included in the Glu^{ACh} cells (Figure 3.3), making them candidates for being part of the circuit involved in establishing adult sleep levels. The second candidate group in the proposed circuit are the excitatory inputs from the clock and superior protocerebrum, which release both glutamate and peptides. Whether these cells are part of the Glu^{ACh} cluster remains to be elucidated.

A model is proposed to explain how disruptions in *miR-190* result in a lower adult sleep baseline (Figure 3.1). This model postulates that Glu^{ACh} cells become abnormally cholinergic upon pupal knockdown of *miR-190*. Lack of suppression of the cholinergic release machinery in exF12 cells may result in inappropriate ACh release (usually excitatory in insects), which together with glutamate and GABA would diminish the ability of exF12 cells to inhibit downstream targets. In such conditions, dopaminergic



Figure 3.3. Glu^{ACh} neurons are a sleep controlling subset of adult glutamatergic cells. IHC from *vglutAD: vachtDBD-Split-GAL4* > *myr-GFP*. Cell membrane labeling shows neutropils innervated by Glu^{ACh} cells. Yellow arrow marks dFSB.

inputs would have a much higher effect on sleep given the lack of opposing sleep-promoting drive.

Several approaches could be used to further test models for *miR-190* regulation of sleep in *Drosophila*. One would be to identify direct and indirect targets of *miR-190* with altered expression upon *miR-190* downregulation, specifically in Glu^{ACh} cells. To understand the effects of *miR-190* inhibition on the expression of target genes, we could perform FACS sorting to isolate Glu^{ACh} cells from both pupal and adult brains, upon expression of miR-190-SP, followed by RNAseq. As performed with our bulk RNAseq experiments, putative targets of *miR-190* for the establishment of sleep/arousal baseline, would be confirmed by means of overexpression and knockdown of those within Glu^{ACh} cells. Changes in sleep behavior after manipulation of putative targets would be addressed by means of measurements of locomotor activity, using the DAM system.

It would also be important to investigate the normal role of Glu^{ACh} cells in adult sleep behavior. This could be achieved by making use of neuronal activators (dTRPA1, CsChrimson) and inactivators (shi^{ts}, GtACR1), expressed within Glu^{ACh} cells, by means of our split-GAL4 drivers. Such experiments have been attempted as part of our recent work. However, our data shows that our Glu^{ACh} split-GAL4 drivers also target cells within the VNC, potentially involved in locomotion. When we activated Glu^{ACh} cells by means of dTRPA1 we observed increased sleep fragmentation (data not shown). However, we have also observed that strong activation of Glu^{ACh} cells by means of dTRPA1, also leads to animals having seizures and ultimately dying with constant activation. Hence, when expressing neuronal activators or silencers within Glu^{ACh} cells, our sleep behavior results may be contaminated by mere changes on locomotion (data not shown). To avoid this, we are currently building lines that have both miR-190-SP and tsh-GAL80 a transgene that suppresses GAL4 action within the ventral nerve chord (VNC), aiming to suppress potential activation of motor neurons contained within the VNC (Chen et al., 2018). Additionally, the specific role of exF12 cells within the Glu^{ACh} cluster might be

addressed by utilizing exF12 to target the expression of the aforementioned neuronal activators and inhibitors. These experiments will inform whether cells within the Glu^{ACh} cluster are involved in the regulation of sleep and arousal, and if they effect a specific sleep or wake-promoting function.

Another important aim would be to understand whether the observed changes in sleep behavior upon miR-190-SP expression are caused by changes in levels of cholinergic transmission. Our results demonstrate an increase in VAChT::ECFP levels increase upon miR-190-SP expression in Glu^{ACh} cells (Figure 2.7). However, we found that overexpression of VAChT alone is not sufficient to recapitulate miR-190-SP sleep phenotype (data not shown). Future work could address whether knockdown of *miR-190* also elicits changes in the levels of other cholinergic proteins such as ChAT. This could be achieved by designing a ChaT::ECFP reporter to be expressed together with miR-190-SP, followed by IHC. Additionally, future work could address whether overexpression of the vesicular acetylcholine transporter (VAChT), together with the choline acetyltransferase (ChAT), within the Glu^{ACh} cluster, is sufficient to phenocopy miR-190-SP phenotype.

To further unravel our model, it would also be important to identify abnormal cholinergic outputs from exF12 cells. To do this, we could express the ATP-gated cation channel P2X2 in Glu^{ACh} cells (together with miR-190-SP or scramble-SP), while GCaMP is expressed in Helicon cells, target of exF12 cells, by means of the *R24B11-LexA* driver. In *Glu^{ACh}* scramble animals application of ATP should evoke release from Glu^{ACh} neurons onto Helicon cells, causing inhibition in the latter (Donlea et al., 2018). On the other hand, if expression of miR-190-SP in Glu^{ACh} cells alters the balance and

identity of their signal, making them cholinergic, the activity of Helicon cells may increase. The neurotransmitter identity of the altered signals could be addressed by means of pharmacology, utilizing ACh, GABA and glutamate blockers. The same principle could be applied to determine abnormal neuronal signaling between LPN/SLP and exF12 cells (Ni et al., 2019).

Another aspect to be further studied is the involvement of the transcription factor *midline* in the sleep regulatory effects of *miR-190*. Our RNAseg results show that pupal knockdown of *miR-190* results in an upregulation of *midline*. Additionally, upregulation of *midline* in Glu^{ACh} cells results in a partial phenocopy of the miR-190-SP sleep phenotype, causing a decrease in nighttime sleep. To further understand *midline* involvement, we could express an RNAi against midline while simultaneously expressing the miR-190-SP in Glu^{ACh} cells. If the effects of *miR-190* knockdown on sleep are due to an abnormal effect of higher levels of midline, when expressing miR-190-SP concomitant with a *midline* RNAi, we should see a rescue in the sleep behavior. Our results from VAChT::ECFP with miR-190-SP expression demonstrate an increase in VAChT levels in Glu^{ACh} cells. To demonstrate the involvement of *midline* in the VAChT increase observed upon miR-190 knockdown, we could express miR-190-SP together with *midline* RNAi and perform IHC to determine whether a VAChT increase is observed, relative to controls. A previous study demonstrates that *midline* acts to determine neuronal fate in the CNS through the regulation of the regulation of the Drosophila segmentation gene even-skipped (Doe et al., 1988; Leal et al., 2009). However, our results from whole-brain RNAseq doesn't show changes in *even-skipped*. FACS sorting of Glu^{ACh} cells from miR-190-SP expressing animals, followed by RNAseq

could highlight changes of downstream targets of *midline* potentially involved in proper neuronal fate determination of Glu^{ACh} cells, and hence *Drosophila* adult sleep behavior.

Taken together, our work demonstrates the involvement of the microRNA miR-190 in the establishment of sleep and arousal behaviors. Future work remains to be done to further unravel the specific neuronal circuit where the microRNA operates to effect its role on sleep and identify the molecular targets of miR-190 within this specific locus. Our work shines light both on the effects of microRNA on both the regulation of sleep and development. This work may help better understand mechanisms of regulation of sleep in humans, allowing us to identify potential therapeutic targets, as well as better understanding sleep disorders and comorbidities.

References

Andretic, R., van Swinderen, B., and Greenspan, R.J. (2005). Dopaminergic modulation of arousal in Drosophila. Curr Biol *15*, 1165-1175. 10.1016/j.cub.2005.05.025.

Chen, C.L., Hermans, L., Viswanathan, M.C., Fortun, D., Aymanns, F., Unser, M., Cammarato, A., Dickinson, M.H., and Ramdya, P. (2018). Imaging neural activity in the ventral nerve cord of behaving adult Drosophila. Nat Commun *9*, 4390. 10.1038/s41467-018-06857-z.

Chen, X., and Rosbash, M. (2016). mir-276a strengthens Drosophila circadian rhythms by regulating timeless expression. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *113*, E2965-E2972. 10.1073/pnas.1605837113.

Chen, X., and Rosbash, M. (2017). MicroRNA-92a is a circadian modulator of neuronal excitability in Drosophila. Nature Communications *8*, 14707. 10.1038/ncomms14707.

Davis, C.J., Bohnet, S.G., Meyerson, J.M., and Krueger, J.M. (2007). Sleep loss changes microRNA levels in the brain: A possible mechanism for state-dependent translational regulation. Neuroscience Letters *422*, 68-73. 10.1016/j.neulet.2007.06.005.

Davis, C.J., Clinton, J.M., and Krueger, J.M. (2012). MicroRNA 138, let-7b, and 125a inhibitors differentially alter sleep and EEG delta-wave activity in rats. Journal of Applied Physiology *113*, 1756-1762. 10.1152/japplphysiol.00940.2012.

Doe, C.Q., Smouse, D., and Goodman, C.S. (1988). Control of neuronal fate by the Drosophila segmentation gene even-skipped. Nature *333*, 376-378. 10.1038/333376a0.

Donlea, J.M., Pimentel, D., Talbot, C.B., Kempf, A., Omoto, J.J., Hartenstein, V., and Miesenböck, G. (2018). Recurrent Circuitry for Balancing Sleep Need and Sleep. Neuron *97*, 378-389.e374. 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.12.016.

Donlea, J.M., Thimgan, M.S., Suzuki, Y., Gottschalk, L., and Shaw, P.J. (2011). Inducing Sleep by Remote Control Facilitates Memory Consolidation in Drosophila. Science 332, 1571-1576. 10.1126/science.1202249.

Estacio-Gomez, A., Hassan, A., Walmsley, E., Le, L.W., and Southall, T.D. (2020). Dynamic neurotransmitter specific transcription factor expression profiles during Drosophila development. Biol Open *9*. 10.1242/bio.052928.

Fulga, T.A., McNeill, E.M., Binari, R., Yelick, J., Blanche, A., Booker, M., Steinkraus, B.R., Schnall-Levin, M., Zhao, Y., DeLuca, T., et al. (2015). A transgenic resource for conditional competitive inhibition of conserved Drosophila microRNAs. Nat Commun *6*, 7279. 10.1038/ncomms8279.

Goodwin, P.R., Meng, A., Moore, J., Hobin, M., Fulga, T.A., Van Vactor, D., and Griffith, L.C. (2018). MicroRNAs Regulate Sleep and Sleep Homeostasis in Drosophila. Cell Rep *23*, 3776-3786. 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.05.078.

Leal, S.M., Qian, L., Lacin, H., Bodmer, R., and Skeath, J.B. (2009). Neuromancer1 and Neuromancer2 regulate cell fate specification in the developing embryonic CNS of Drosophila melanogaster. Dev Biol *325*, 138-150. 10.1016/j.ydbio.2008.10.006.

Liu, Q., Liu, S., Kodama, L., Driscoll, M.R., and Wu, M.N. (2012). Two dopaminergic neurons signal to the dorsal fan-shaped body to promote wakefulness in Drosophila. Curr Biol *22*, 2114-2123. 10.1016/j.cub.2012.09.008.

Ni, J.D., Gurav, A.S., Liu, W., Ogunmowo, T.H., Hackbart, H., Elsheikh, A., Verdegaal, A.A., and Montell, C. (2019). Differential regulation of the Drosophila sleep homeostat by circadian and arousal inputs. eLife *8*. 10.7554/elife.40487.

Ueno, T., Tomita, J., Tanimoto, H., Endo, K., Ito, K., Kume, S., and Kume, K. (2012). Identification of a dopamine pathway that regulates sleep and arousal in Drosophila. Nat Neurosci *15*, 1516-1523. 10.1038/nn.3238.

Zhang, R., Du, J., Zhao, X., Wei, L., and Zhao, Z. (2021a). Regulation of circadian behavioural output via clock-responsive miR-276b. Insect Mol Biol *30*, 81-89. 10.1111/imb.12679.

Zhang, R., Zhao, X., Du, J., Wei, L., and Zhao, Z. (2021b). Regulatory mechanism of daily sleep by miR-276a. FASEB J *35*, e21222. 10.1096/fj.202001220R.

Supplementary Figures



Supplementary Figure 1. S30 Plots showing that *miR-190* acts in Glu^{ACh} cells to regulate sleep. In (A-D), LD sleep data for UAS control and scramble control is shown in light gray and dark gray, respectively. (A) data for chat-*GAL4* > *miR-190-SP* is shown in blue. (B) Data for vglut-*GAL4* > *miR-190-SP* is shown in pink. (C) Data for vglut-*GAL4* > *miR-190-SP* is shown in pink. (D) Data for chat-*GAL4* > *miR-190-SP* is shown in pink. (D) Data for chat-*GAL4* > *miR-190-SP* is shown in purple, data for vglut-*GAL80; chat-GAL4* > *miR-190-SP* is shown in yellow. (D) Data for vglutAD: vachtDBD-GAL4 > *miR-190-SP* is shown in orange.



Supplementary Figure 2. S30 Plots showing that *miR-190* acts in the pupal brain to regulate sleep. In (A-C), LD sleep data for UAS control and scramble control is shown in light gray and dark gray, respectively. *tub-GAL80^{ls}; nsyb-GAL4 > miR-190-SP* flies pan-neuronally expressed miR-190-SP during either L1-L3, P2-P5, or adulthood, upon exposure to 29°C. (A) Data for miR-190-SP expressing animals during L1-L3 stages is shown in aqua. (B) Data for miR-190-SP expressing animals during P2-P5 stages is shown in orange. (C) Data for miR-190-SP expressing animals during adulthood is shown in purple.

Gene	nsyb-GAL4 > scramble non- sleep deprived	nsyb-GAL4 > miR-190-SP non-sleep deprived	nsyb-GAL4 > scramble sleep deprived	nsyb-GAL4 > miR-190-SP sleep deprived
vmat	3801.33	6136	5312.33	2621.66
dop1r1	670	1541.66	1000	558.66
dat	198.33	371.66	250.33	151.66
dop2r	336.33	831.33	580.66	377

Supplementary Table 1. Pan-neuronal expression of miR-190-SP leads to an upregulation in dopaminergic genes upon baseline sleep, and downregulation upon sleep deprivation. Raw reads from RNA sequencing performed from whole brains from non-sleep deprived and sleep deprived *nsyb-GAL4* > *scramble* and *nsyb-GAL4* > *miR-190-SP* flies.